
1

City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

Monday, May 27, 2013

2:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record. A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 11

Regular PM Meeting - May 13, 2013

3. Public in Attendance

3.1 Luby Pow, CEO, Southern Interior Development Initiatives Trust, re:
Presentation to Kelowna City Council

12 - 27

To provide Council with information regarding the Southern Interior
Development Initiatives Trust.

4. Unfinished Business

4.1 Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A13-0004 – Supplemental
Report, 982 Old Vernon Road, Manraj and Jeetender Kandola

28 - 31

To consider a staff recommendation NOT to support a request from the
applicant for permission from the Agricultural Land Commission to exclude
approximately 4.04 ha (9.99 ac) from the Agricultural Land Reserve. If
successful in excluding the property, the owners are proposing to rezone the
subject property to an industrial use. An application to exclude the subject
property was considered by Council on April 22, 2013. Council deferred
consideration and directed staff to work with the Applicants and the
Agricultural Land Commission in order to determine viable options for keeping



2

the subject property within the Agricultural Land Reserve and report back to
Council. This supplemental report provides details with respect to discussions
with the applicant and ALC staff and recommends forwarding the application
as is.

Mayor to invite the Applicants, or Applicants' Representative, to come
forward.

5. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

5.1 Rezoning Application No. Z12-0062 - 2190 Cooper Road, Brian and Linda Pahl 32 - 58

To consider a staff recommendation NOT to rezone the subject property from
the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to the A1t – Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist
Accommodation zone to allow for agri-tourist accommodation which would
facilitate the development and operation of ten (10) recreational vehicle sites
on the subject property.

Mayor to invite the Applicants, or Applicants' Representative, to come
forward.

5.2 Rezoning Application No. Z13-0011 - 370 Fleming Road, Wendy Cullen &
Michael Anderson

59 - 71

To rezone the subject property from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the
RU1c - Large Lot Housing with carriage house zone to allow the legalization of
a carriage house.

5.2.1 Bylaw No. 10849 (Z13-0011) - 370 Fleming Road, Wendy Cullen &
Michael Anderson

72 - 72

To give Bylaw No. 10849 first reading.

5.3 Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A13-0008 - 3690 Berard Road
and 1640 Ward Road, Ronald, James and Wilma McMillan

73 - 106

To obtain a Council recommendation on a proposal to operate two non-farm
uses in the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR). Specifically, the applicant is
seeking non-farm uses with respect to an activity referred to as Farmersgolf™
and a concession stand for visitors to the farm.

5.4 Rezoning Application No. Z10-0013, Extension Request - 546 McWilliams Road,
Terry Oxley

107 - 109



3

To extend the date for adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw from May 18,
2012 to May 18, 2013 and to further extend the date for adoption of the Zone
Amending Bylaw from May 18, 2013 to May 14, 2014.

6. Bylaws for Adoption (Development Related)

6.1 Bylaw No. 10783 (Z12-0059) – 250 and 260 Lake Avenue, Marianne Hill 110 - 111

To consider adoption of Bylaw No. 10783, being Z12-0059 Marianne Hill (Ed
Guy) – 250 and 260 Lake Avenue in order to rezone from RU1 – Large Lot
Housing zone to the RU3 – Small Lot Housing zone.

6.2 Bylaw No. 10804 (TA12-0012) - Amendment to City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw
No. 8000, Care Centre Text Amendments, City of Kelowna

112 - 117

To consider adoption of Bylaw No. 10804, being TA12-0012 in order to update
the Zoning Bylaw.

7. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

7.1 Development Application Process Review - Final Report and Recommendations 118 - 178

To inform Council of the review undertaken by staff to identify opportunities
to improve the City’s development process and to receive Council’s
endorsement of the report and associated recommendations.

7.2 Ellis Street Truck Route 179 - 183

The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information related to
discussions with BC Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI) staff
regarding potential upgrades to the intersection of Harvey Avenue (Highway
97) and Gordon Drive to accommodate closure of Ellis Street to heavy truck
traffic; to report back on input from affected businesses, residents, and
stakeholders; and to provide a recommendation to Council regarding the
potential closure of the Ellis Street truck route.

7.3 Transit 2013/2014 Annual Operating Agreements 184 - 190

To provide Council with information on Transit costs for the current year and
receive Council authorization to sign the Annual Operating Agreements for the
current year along with the amended agreement for last year.



4

7.4 License of Occupation – City of Kelowna to Callahan Construction Company
Ltd. and 3720 Investments Ltd. (Mission Park Shopping Centre)

191 - 201

To provide a License of Occupation for a bus shelter that furthers the
development of the RapidBus service.

7.5 Concession and Vendor Bid Awards 202 - 334

To obtain Council endorsement to award activity and food concessions and a
mobile vending contract to operate concessions at City Park, Ben Lee Park,
Waterfront Park and Queensway Street.

7.6 Commercial Lease  – Duncan's Bistro & Bar Ltd., 375 Lawrence Avenue
(Chapman Parkade)

335 - 373

That Council approve the Lease to Duncan’s Bistro & Bar Ltd.

7.7 Corporate GHG Emissions Update 374 - 383

Purpose of report is to present the latest corporate GHG emisions data and
highlight GHG emisions reduction projects. The community actions were
highlighted in a separate Council report on Feb 12, 2013 (Climate Action
Revenue Incentive Program Reporting Requirement).

8. Bylaws for Adoption (Non-Development Related)

8.1 Bylaw No. 10848 - Road Closure Bylaw, A Portion of Road that bisects 2018
Cross Road

384 - 386

To consider adoption of Bylaw No. 10848 being Road Closure and Removal of
Highway Dedication - A Portion of Road that bisects 2018 Cross Road.

Mayor to invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected
by the proposed Road Closure to come forward.

9. Mayor and Councillor Items

10. Termination



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



Created by an Act of Legislation (Bill 8 - 2005) 
February 27, 2006 

Set up as a Corporation, independent of 
government  

One time $50 million allocation from the 
Province 

Commenced operations October, 2006 

 

 
13



Columbia Kootenay Directors: 

Gord DeRosa – Councillor Trail  (RDKB); Mayor Karen Hamling –Nakusp (RDCK) 

Grace McGregor – Director Area B (RDKB); Mayor Ron McRae – Kimberly (RDEK) 

 

Thompson Okanagan Directors 

Mayor Doug Findlater – West Kelowna; Mayor Stu Wells – Osoyoos 

Mayor Al Raine – Sun Peaks Mountain Resort; (one position vacant) 

 

Appointed Directors: 

John Zimmer, Cranbrook;   Keith Mathew, Barrier;  Claudette Everitt, Vernon,   

Philip Jones, Cranbrook; (one position vacant) 

 

14



15



Agriculture  
Economic development 
Energy 
Forestry 
Mining  
Tourism 
Olympic opportunities  
Pine Beetle recovery 
Small Business  
Transportation 

 
 
 

16



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

17



 The mission of the Southern Interior Development 

Initiative Trust is to support regionally strategic 

investments in economic development projects that will 

have long-lasting and measurable regional benefits for 

the Southern Interior. 

18



 Enhance the resiliency of the Southern Interior 

economy by promoting greater economic 

diversification.   

 Preserve existing jobs and stimulate new 

employment in the Southern Interior region. 

 Attract new capital to the Southern Interior region 

to drive incremental economic development 

activities. 

 Increase the value of the investment pool, thereby 

increasing opportunities to support regionally 

strategic investments in the Southern Interior. 

 
19



 SIDIT’s funding has to date created or preserved 

or will create 1,895 short and long term jobs (proj 

over 3-5 years).  

 Over the past six years, SIDIT has funded over 

$33.2 million in development initiatives, grants 

and education awards. Based on total cumulative 

initiative values of $130.2 million, $97 million has 

been invested by proponents and other funders. 

 5,298 students have received education support 

by way of bursaries and scholarships. 

 Net current asset value $49.9 million. 

 

 

20



 Municipalities, Regional Districts, First Nations, 

Registered not-for-profit societies, Industry associations 

or co-ops eligible for grant funding. 

 Project must aligned with SIDIT’s mandate,  create new 

economic activity, demonstrate sustainable revenue 

generation and create jobs. 

  A viable business plan that includes financial 

statements,  profitability projections and quotes 

supporting the project budget.  

 Project provides broad regional economic impact. 

 Continuous intake until funds fully allocated. 

 

 

 

21



 Business activities that support sustainable regional 

employment, growth and diversification. 

 Must have a viable business plan and meet 

leverage criteria.  

 Funding for commercializing proprietary technology, 

expanding operations, competing in new markets, 

implementing turnaround or succession plans.  

 Funding applications are continuously accepted.  

 Terms typical of those offered by Banks and 

Investment firms and interest rate is risk based. 

 

 22



23



 Provides network monitoring software to enable IT 

departments to determine how internet bandwidth 

is being used and prioritize business traffic over 

recreational traffic  

 SIDIT investment in 2009 allowed company to 

grow from 6 employees to 34. 

 Unsolicited $28 million sale Jan 2013 provided 

14.5X return on shareholder investment. 

 Purchaser, Procera Networks Inc plans to create a 

NA development centre in Kelowna and increase 

employees to 50.  
24



 Specializing in software designed to improve the 

efficiency of professionals in healthcare and other 

markets through an integrated Human Resource 

Information System (HRIS) and an Electronic 

Medical Records (EMR) solution. 

 SIDIT funding in 2009 allowed the company to 

grow from 80 employees to 100 and increased 

sales from $6.5 million to $13.8 million in one 

year. 

 Quarterly revenues now > $7M (60% recurring). 

 Named one of BC’s top employers in 2013. 

 
25



 Mission is to increase the number of technology 

companies that start and grow in the Okanagan 

 Offers programs that support entrepreneurs and 

technology companies looking to start, accelerate and 

grow. 

 110 early stage companies have been supported. 

 28 companies are currently being mentored. 

 170 jobs created. 

 Helped raised $3.5 million private equity/government 

funding. 

 Vineyard Networks Inc. one of original start-ups.    

 

 
26



Contact Information:Contact Information:  

 

Web Site:   www.sidit-bc.ca 

  

Email:  admin@sidit-bc.ca 

   ceo@sidit-bc.ca 

 

Phone: (250) 545-6829 

Fax: (250) 545-6896   

 

27



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 10, 2013 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (GS) 

Application: A13-0004 Owner: 
Manraj Kandola 
Jeetender Kandola 

Address: 982 Old Vernon Road Applicant: 
Manraj Kandola 
Jeetender Kandola 

Subject: Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) exclusion – Supplemental Report. 

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Agricultural Land Reserve appeal A13-0004 for Lot 3, Section 1, Township 23 Osoyoos 
Division Yale District, Plan 546, located at 982 Old Vernon Road for exclusion of land in the ALR 
under Section 30(1) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act, NOT be supported by Municipal 
Council. 
 
AND THAT Council forward the subject application to the Agricultural Land Commission. 

2.0 Purpose  

An application to exclude the subject property was considered by Council on April 22, 2013.  
Council deferred consideration and directed staff to work with the Applicants and the 
Agricultural Land Commission in order to determine viable options for keeping the subject 
property within the Agricultural Land Reserve and report back to Council.   
 
This supplemental report provides details with respect to discussions with the applicant and ALC 
staff and recommends forwarding the application as is. 

3.0 Land Use Management  

As background, City staff provided a report dated April 5, 2013 which recommended that Council 
not support the request for exclusion from the Agricultural Land Reserve and that Council 
forward the application to the Agricultural Land Commission for exclusion.  After significant 
contemplation, Council voted in favour of deferring consideration of the application and asking 
City staff to discuss opportunities with ALC staff and the applicant/owners. 

28



A13-0004 – Page 2 

 
 

 

Following the Council meeting, City staff advised the applicants to consider non-farm use 
concepts that ALC and City staff could consider for appropriateness.  The applicants later advised 
that they met with the owner of Lot 2 (the former Russo mill site since inception) to determine if 
there was an opportunity for the two owners to work together toward a common goal.  Staff 
understand that the owner of Lot 2 is interested in a very limited range of non-farm uses (e.g. 
medium to heavy industrial use for a recycling plant).  This narrow range does not offer a great 
deal of latitude or hope that a positive result can be facilitated on Lot 2. 

The applicants (owners of Lot 3) have however stated their openness to alternatives to exclusion.  
As a result, it is likely that a solution, if available, will only apply to Lot 3.  To date, the 
applicants identified subdivision of the land for residential lots.  As this scenario would leave no 
real opportunity for agriculture and would have a similar precedent setting nature to the 
proposed transitional industrial use of the property, City staff view this proposal similar to the 
exclusion and are unable to support it. 

ALC Discussions 

City staff initiated discussions with ALC staff following the Council direction.  No in person 
discussions or site visit have taken place due to ALC staff being located in Burnaby, rather phone 
and email discussion were relied on. 

As a result of dialogue, ALC staff has outlined their preferred approach to facilitating this file 
(see attached letter).  As a summary, Commission staff advise that their preferable approach “is 
for the City to forward the ALC exclusion application to the Agricultural Land Commission” at this 
time. 

ALC staff note that ALC legislation provides the Commission the flexibility when considering the 
exclusion to retain the land in the ALR while permitting a specific non-farm use or subdivision.  
An example of this was the City’s own file for the Glenmore Recreation Park where the City 
requested ALR exclusion, but the Commission granted a non-farm use.  

Of additional importance is that regulations require that “exclusion applications be forwarded 
from the local government within 60 days of receipt of the application”.  ALC staff feel that “the 
Commission can appropriately undertake discussions with the applicant about potential suitable 
land uses”.  ALC staff advise that this approach is preferable to working with the applicant while 
the application is on hold with the City as the file can be placed in their queue sooner rather 
than later.  

While staff recognize that the result is not what Council intended by placing the file on hold as 
the relevant parties considered alternatives, it appears that advancing the file to the ALC is the 
best solution available at this time. 

4.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received:   February 6, 2013  

Agricultural Advisory Committee:   March 7, 2013 

Council Consideration (Application Deferred):  April 22, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

29



A13-0004 – Page 3 

 
 

     
Greg Sauer, Environment & Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Todd Cashin, Manager, Environment & Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion  D. Gilchrist, Acting General Manager, Community 
Sustainability 

 

Attachments: 

ALC Letter – May 8, 2013 

30



May 8, 2013 

Greg Sauer 
City of Kelowna 
1435 Water St 
Kelowna, B.C. 
V1Y 1J4 

Dear Sir 

Agricultural Land Commission 
133-4940 Canada Way 
Burnaby, Briti sh Columbia V5G 4K6 
Te l: 604660·7000 
Fax: 604 660·703 3 
www.olc.gov.bc.ca 

Reply to the attention of Martin Collins 
Our file : 19519 

Re: Proposed Exclusion of 982 Old Vernon Road (Kandola) from the Agricultural Land 
Reserve 

Thank you for your May 7, 2013 e-mail which provided information about an Agricultural Land 
Commission exclusion application for 982 Old Vernon Road that has been submitted to the City 
of Kelowna. You indicate that the City of Kelowna Council has deferred consideration of the 
application and directed staff to work with the applicants and the Agricultural Land Commission 
(ALC) to determine viable options for keeping the subject property in the Agricultural Land 
Reserve (ALR). You have also provided other information about discussions that occurred 
between the applicants and the adjoining landowner (McColman) whose property is similarly 
debilitated. 

This is to advise that the Commission's preferable approach to ascertaining a future land use for 
. the subject property is for the City to forward the ALC exclusion application to the Agricultural 
Land Commission. Section 30(2) of the ALe Act permits the Commission the flexibility, when 
reviewing exclusion applications, to retain the land in the ALR whi le permitting a specific non
farm use or subdivision. In addition, Section 21 of BC Regulation #17112002 requires that 
exclusion applications be forwarded from the local government within 60 days of receipt of the 
application . With the application before it, the Commission can appropriately undertake 
discussions with the applicant about potential suitable land uses. The Commission finds this 
approach preferable to working with the applicant while the application is held in abeyance, 
because there is potential for delay (frustrating the landowner and inconsistent with the 
regulation), and because the appropriate statutory process to discuss land use in the ALR is 
through the appl ication process. 

If you have any questions about the above advice, please contact Martin Collins at 604-660-
7021. 

Yours truly , 

Martin Collins, Regional Planner 

31



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 13, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (GS) 

Application: Z12-0062 Owner: 
Brian Pahl 
Linda Pahl 

Address: 2190 Cooper Road Applicant: 
Brian Pahl 
Linda Pahl 

Subject: Rezoning Application - Agri-tourist Accommodation 

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area (REP) 

Existing Zone: A1 - Agriculture 

Proposed Zone: A1t - Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist Accommodation 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z12-0062 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot A, District Lot 128, ODYD Plan KAP80629 located at 2190 
Cooper Road, Kelowna, BC from the A1 - Agriculture zone to the A1t - Agriculture 1 with Agri-
tourist Accommodation zone NOT be considered by Council. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a staff recommendation NOT to rezone the subject property from the A1 – 
Agriculture 1 zone to the A1t – Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist Accommodation zone to allow for 
agri-tourist accommodation which would facilitate the development and operation of ten (10) 
recreational vehicle sites on the subject property. 

3.0 Land Use Management 

Agri-tourist accommodation is a “permitted use” in the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR).  While 
the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) permits the use, the activity is not designated as a “farm 
use” and may be regulated or prohibited by a local government bylaw. 

Introduced in 2010, the City’s A1t zoning requirement resulted from past experiences with this 
land use.  The objectives were to ensure that the intended goals are better achieved; and the 
use does not create undue hardship on adjacent and nearby properties, owners and residents.  
This rezoning application represents just the second rezoning to be considered under the new 
regulations and no properties have been rezoned to date.   

32



Z12-0062 – Page 2 

 
 

The applicants are proposing to develop ten (10) recreational vehicle (RV) sites on the subject 
property.  Ten is the maximum number of units available to the subject property (1 unit / ha 
over 4 ha), and is the maximum for any parcel regardless of size (as per ALC regulations).     

The subject property is well situated in many respects and is serviced by a number of urban 
services including a straight, paved road and the ability to connect to community water and 
sewer.  The location is also central to many City amenities. 

From an agricultural perspective, the subject property reflects excellent agricultural potential.  
As a larger property (>10 ha), the parcel contains all of the necessary attributes of a productive 
agricultural parcel capable of generating relatively high farm income.     

While staff are supportive of agritourism and agri-tourist accommodation in general terms, staff 
support is reserved for instances where these activities can reasonably be expected to augment 
and enhance the principal use of agriculture.  Staff are reasonably concerned with the lack of 
agricultural production and with the owners admitted lack of experience with farming.  Both ALC 
and City Policy and Regulations are clear that agri-tourist accommodation is intended to support 
legitimate agricultural operations as an accessory use.  Existing examples of agri-tourist 
accommodation developed prior to the requirement to rezone to the A1t zone demonstrate the 
inherent dangers where agriculture has become accessory to the accommodation, if existent at 
all. 

While supporting the proposed rezoning (3 votes to 1) AAC members noted concerns with the 
proposal and the potential for negative impacts to agriculture.  The AAC noted the location is 
among an agriculturally productive area with orchards located directly adjacent to the site of the 
proposed RV units.  AAC concerns were primarily with respect to farmers’ ability to carry out 
operations relatively unimpeded.  Farm operators often apply chemicals to control pests and 
weeds which can result in spray drift ending up on adjacent properties.  To reduce drift, farmers 
often spray in the early or late hours of the day when wind speeds are typically at their lowest.  
AAC members have commented on the difficulty of buffering impacts in general.    

Staff share the AAC’s concerns with respect to the impact on adjacent landowners operations and 
have concerns that even an extensive vegetative buffer (e.g. +20 metres including a berm, trees 
and shrubs) will provide sufficient mitigation.  The applicants are proposing a 10 metre wide 
buffer with turf and a “privacy hedge along property line”. 

Conclusions 

Staff suggest that the proposed rezoning is premature at this time.  Council is being asked to 
place a great deal of faith that the proponents are capable of operating a working farm that is 
worthy of agri-tourist accommodation without a proven track record.  The owners are 
encouraged to farm the land much closer to its potential and to demonstrate an ability to 
operate a working farm for a minimum of two full growing seasons.    

Should Council support the proposed rezoning, staff recommend that Council require a minimum 
20 metre wide buffer consistent with Schedule “A” to help limit the negative impacts.  Staff also 
recommend that a Farm Plan prepared by a qualified professional outlining planting options and 
rotation schedule based on soil types and agricultural limitations for the balance of the land not 
presently productive be provided as part of the Development Permit.     

In sum, the subject property is comprised of exceptional agricultural capability and has all of the 
necessary elements to be a productive farm.  Agriculture is the intended principal use in the A1 
zone and in the ALR, though provisions have been made to help augment farm income with non-
farm uses such as agri-tourist accommodation.  While supportive of the use, staff support is 
limited to those instances where a farm has been proven to be productive (including a large 

33



Z12-0062 – Page 3 

 
 

investment into farming), the agri-tourist accommodation will result in limited impact on 
agriculture potential and will remain accessory to farming. 

 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background/Project Description 

The area proposed to be developed for agri-tourist accommodation is currently unplanted (see 
Figures 1 & 2 below).  Based on airphoto interpretation, it is believed that less than 3.0 ha of the 
approximately 10.7 ha subject property are currently in production (orchard) and the remainder 
cultivated and free of agricultural production in 2011 and 2012. 

The owners note the following plans for the subject property (see attached rationale):  

“With the existing home on the property being of an age & condition no longer economical to 
use, we are planning a new home in the location shown on the attached plans.  A new shop for 
farm machinery maintenance & repair is necessary as well. With the location of the proposed 
new home & shop, the 10 RV sites is best suited between the new buildings and Byrns Road.  
No damage to fields or orchard trees by RV vehicles.  Topsoil will be removed from the 
location of the road & RV sites & utilized in other areas of the farm”. 

And further: 

“All sites will be landscaped with grass & trees, and the road & sites area will be graveled. A restroom 
facility will also be provided”. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is located along Cooper, Benvoulin and Byrns Roads in the South 
Pandosy/KLO Sector of the City.  The property is adjacent to urban land uses including single 
family and multi-family residential development, and is also adjacent to productive agricultural 
land (orchard). The subject property has a land use designation of Resource Protection Area in 
the City’s Official Community Plan and is zoned for Agriculture (A1).  The property is also within 
the ALR and outside of the City’s Permanent Growth Boundary.   

The subject property is within the City’s service area with respect to water and sanitary sewer.    
As such, if successful, the proposed agri-tourist accommodation would be connected to both City 
water and sanitary sewer.  The Benvoulin Water Users irrigation ditch flowing from Mission Creek 
is located along the northern property boundary and provides irrigation water to the subject 
property. 

Directly north are two agricultural properties (i.e. 2120 Cooper & 2025 Springfield Road) which 
have an active ALR Exclusion file under consideration. 

An existing mobile home is located on the adjacent farm parcel (2050-2060 Byrns Rd) in close 
proximity to the shared property line and in close proximity to the proposed development. 

The subject property is within a Farm Protection Development Permit and the proposed 
development of agri-tourist accommodation will require a Development Permit. 

4.3 Parcel Summary 

Parcel Size: 10.69 ha (26.4 ac) 
Elevation:  359 – 365 masl 

No soils or agricultural capability reporting was required for the purposes of this rezoning.  
However, the Canada Land Inventory (CLI) shows that the subject property has the potential for 

34



Z12-0062 – Page 4 

 
 

land capability to increase through improvements such as dewatering and grading which would 
render the site 80% Class 2 and 20% Class 3 (i.e. prime).  Soils of this quality are rare in the 
Okanagan context. 

The surrounding properties are zoned as follows: 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agricultural 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 No Rural Residential 

East 

RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing 
RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing 

A1 – Agriculture 1 
A1- Agriculture 1 

No 
No 
No 
Yes 

Multi-family Residential 
Multi-family Residential 

Rural Residential 
Agricultural 

West A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agricultural 

 

Figure 1: Proposed RV Site (in the foreground) Looking East Along Byrns Road (October 1, 2012) 

   
 

35



Z12-0062 – Page 5 

 
 

Figure 2: Proposed RV Site (foreground) Looking North from Byrns Road (October 1, 2012)  

 
 
Figure 3: Western Property Line with Mobile Home on Adjacent Property (Google Street View – Date 

Unknown) 

 

 

36



Z12-0062 – Page 6 

 
 

Figure 3: Subject Property and Existing Dwelling and Orchard Looking West from Cooper Road (Google 
Street View – Date Unknown) 

 

4.4 Context Map :  2190 Cooper Road 

 

 

 

 

 

37



Z12-0062 – Page 7 

 
 

4.5 Subject Property Map :  2190 Cooper Road 

 

4.6 Development Criteria 

CRITERIA PROPOSAL ZONE REQUIREMENTS 

Minimum Lot Area 10.69 ha = 10 units 4 min, 10 max 

Maximum setback from road meets 30.0 m  

Minimum distance from lot line TBD 10.0 m 

Maximum Site Coverage <5% 5% 

5.0 Current Development Regulations & Policies 

5.1 Zoning Bylaw 8000 

Section 2.3 – General Definitions1 

Agritourist Accommodation means the seasonal availability of short term accommodation for 
tourists on a farm, orchard, or vineyard in association with an agri-tourism activity which is 
subordinate and secondary to the principal agricultural use. Typical uses include but are not 
limited to seasonal farm cabins, and campsites/recreational vehicle sites. Seasonal, in this 
instance, means the accommodation must be available for use only between April 1 and October 
31 of each year. 

 

  

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw 8000 – Section 2; p. 2-2. 

Existing 
Dwelling 

Existing 
Orchard 
(~2.9 ha) 

Location of 
Proposed RV 
Sites, Home 
& Shop 

Farm 
Accessory 
Structures 

38



Z12-0062 – Page 8 

 
 

Section 11.1 – Agriculture 12 

a) Purpose - Agri-tourist accommodation shall be accessory and subordinate to a legitimate 
agriculture operation. The intent is to augment or subsidize and not to replace or 
complete with farm income. 

c) Site coverage for agri-tourist accommodation shall not exceed 5% inclusive of buildings, 
landscaping, access, and servicing/sanitary facilities. 

5.2 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future 

Objective 5.33 Protect and enhance local agriculture3. 

Policy. 1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 

Policy .6 Agri-tourist Accommodation. Agri-tourist accommodation will only be approved and 
operated in a manner that supports agricultural production and which limits the impact on 
agricultural land, City services and the surrounding community. 

Objective 5.34 Preserve productive agricultural land4. 

Policy .3 Homeplating. Locate buildings and structures, including farm help housing and farm 
retail sales area and structures, on agricultural parcels in close proximity to one another and 
where appropriate, near the existing road frontage. The goal should be to maximize use of 
existing infrastructure and reduce impacts on productive agricultural lands. 

Farm Protection DP Guidelines5 

Objectives 

 Protect farm land and farm operations; 

 Minimize the impact of urban encroachment and land use conflicts on agricultural land; 

 Minimize conflicts created by activities designated as farm use by ALC regulation and non-
farm uses within agricultural areas. 

Guidelines 

1.2 On agricultural lands, where appropriate, locate all buildings and structures, including farm 
help housing and farm retail sales, within a contiguous area (i.e. homeplate). Exceptions may be 
permitted where the buildings or structures are for farm use only; 

1.3 On agricultural and non-agricultural lands, establish and maintain a landscape buffer along 
the agricultural and/or property boundary, except where development is for a permitted farm 
use that will not encourage public attendance and does not concern additional residences 
(including secondary suites), in accordance with the following criteria: 

1.3.1 Consistent with guidelines provided by Ministry of Agriculture “Guide to Edge Planning” 
and the ALC report “Landscape Buffer Specifications” or its replacement; 
1.3.2 Incorporate landscaping that reinforces the character of agricultural lands. A majority 
of plant material selected should include low maintenance, indigenous vegetation; 
1.3.3 Preserve all healthy existing mature trees located within the buffer area; 

                                                
2 City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw 8000 – Section 11; p. A1-1 to A1-4. 
3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Development Process Chapter; p. 5.35.  
4 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Development Process Chapter; p. 5.36.  
5 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan (2011) – Farm Protection Development Permit Chapter; p. 15.2 – 15.4.  

39



Z12-0062 – Page 9 

 
 

1.3.4 Integrate double rows of trees, including coniferous trees, and dense vegetation into 
the buffer; 
1.3.5 Install and maintain a continuous fence along the edge of agricultural land. A permeable 
fence which allows for the movement of wildlife (i.e. split rail) in combination with dense and 
continuous evergreen hedge is preferred. Impermeable fencing will not be permitted. 

5.3 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

Agri-tourist Accommodation6. Pursue an amendment to the Zoning Bylaw to include agri-tourist 
accommodation uses in conjunction with bona fide agricultural operation, consistent with 
conditions under the Land Commission Policy #375/97. 

5.4 Agricultural Land Commission Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure 
Regulation7 

Part 1 - Definitions and Interpretation 

1(1) "agri-tourism" means a tourist activity, service or facility accessory to land that is 
classified as a farm under the Assessment Act. 

Part 2 –Permitted uses for land in an agricultural land reserve 

3(1)  The following land uses are permitted in an agricultural land reserve unless otherwise 
prohibited by a local government bylaw or, for lands located in an agricultural land 
reserve that are treaty settlement lands, by a law of the applicable first nation 
government:  

 (a)  accommodation for agri-tourism on a farm if  
(i)  all or part of the parcel on which the accommodation is located is classified as a farm 
under the Assessment Act,  
(ii)  the accommodation is limited to 10 sleeping units in total of seasonal campsites, 
seasonal cabins or short term use of bedrooms including bed and breakfast bedrooms 
under paragraph (d), and 
(iii) the total developed area for buildings, landscaping and access for the accommodation 
is less than 5% of the parcel@ 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 
a. Drawings for sewer and water including details of the actual connections for the RV’s will 

be required at Building Permit stage.  
b. A water meter and possibly an upgrade to the water service are necessary. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 
See attached. 

6.3 Fire Department 
A six metre road width should be maintained at all times for emergency vehicle access. 

6.4 Public Health Inspector 
No concerns with drinking water or wastewater disposal based on the referenced property 
having connection to the City of Kelowna municipal drinking water supply and sewer systems. 

  

                                                
6 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan; p. 85. 

40



Z12-0062 – Page 10 

 
 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: September 19, 2012  

Agricultural Advisory Committee: October 11, 2012 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting on October 11, 2012 (See Minutes, attached) and the following recommendation was 
passed (Vote: 3 – 1): 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee support Rezoning Application No. Z12-0062, for 
2190 Cooper Road, by Brian and Linda Pahl, to rezone the subject property from the A1 - 
Agriculture zone to the A1t - Agriculture 1 with Agri-tourist Accommodation in order to 
facilitate the development and operation of ten (10) recreational vehicle sites which may be 
operated on a seasonal basis subordinate to the agricultural operation. 

Anecdotal Comment 
The AAC raised concern with the potential urban/rural conflict. Specifically the drifting of 
pesticides and herbicides both onsite and on adjacent parcels into the RV area normal hours 
of operation for farmers (early in the morning and late at night) were of greatest concern. 
The AAC strongly recommends sufficient buffering with tall trees, shrubs and fencing to 
minimize the interface concerns. The AAC also recommends that landscape buffering be 
required prior to the applicant/owner being granted an Occupancy Permit or Business 
License.  

 
Date Application Placed On Hold: October 23, 2012 

Date Application Taken Off Hold: April 15, 2013 

8.0 Alternate Recommendation  

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z12-0062 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot A, District Lot 128, ODYD Plan KAP80629 located at 2190 
Cooper Road, Kelowna, BC from the A1 - Agriculture zone to the A1t - Agriculture 1 with Agri-
tourist Accommodation zone be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration;  

AND THAT final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being met; 

AND THAT final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered subsequent to the issuance 
of a Farm Protection Development Permit which includes a Farm Plan prepared by a Qualified 
Professional (Professional Agrologist) outlining planting options and rotation schedule based on 
soil types and agricultural limitations for the balance of the land not presently productive; 

AND THAT the Farm Protection Development Permit require that the site be developed to include 
a minimum 20.0 metre wide Noise, Airborne Particle & Visual Screen (buffer) consistent with 
attached “Schedule A”;  

AND FURTHER THAT Council direct staff to not issue a Business License to operate an RV Park 
until one full growing season has passed and where the Qualified Professional has monitored the 
production and harvesting and advises that the results are satisfactory. 

                                                                                                                                                             
7 Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure Regulation; Retrieved from: 
http://www.alc.gov.bc.ca/legislation/Reg/ALR_Use-Subd-Proc_Reg.htm#sec3 

41



Z12-0062 – Page 11 

 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Greg Sauer, Environment & Land Use Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Todd Cashin, Manager, Environment & Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion  D. Gilchrist, Acting General Manager, Community 
Sustainability 

 

Attachments: 

Schedule “A”: Buffer Types – A.4: Noise, Airborne Particle & Visual Screen (1 page) 
Subject property/zoning map & ALR map (2 pages) 
BC Land Inventory – Land Capability and Soil Classification (4 pages) 
AAC Minutes (3 pages) 
Development Engineering Comments (1 page) 
Landowner’s proposal (4 pages) 
 

42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



 

58



 

 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 6, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (BD) 

Application: Z13-0011 Owner: 
Wendy Diana Cullen & 
Michael Steve Anderson 

Address: 370 Fleming Road Applicant: 
Wendy Diana Cullen & 
Michael Steve Anderson 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: Single/two unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: RU1c – Large Lot Housing with Carriage House 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0011 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lot B, Section 27, Township 26, ODYD Plan 11730, located on 
370 Fleming Road, Kelowna, BC from the RU1- Large Lot Housing zone to the RU1c- Large Lot 
Housing with carriage house zone be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction with 
Council’s consideration of a Development Variance Permit for the subject property;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the zone amending bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose   

To rezone the subject property from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU1c - Large Lot 
Housing with carriage house zone to allow the legalization of a carriage house. 

3.0 Land Use Management   

The applicant is seeking to rezone the subject property to allow the conversion of a garage to a 
carriage house. This application is the result of Bylaw enforcement and Staff do not condone the 
use of dwellings without the appropriate permits and approvals. However, the subject property 

59



Z13-0011 – Page 2 

 
 

 

can easily accommodate an additional dwelling unit and meets the Zoning Bylaw requirements. 
Given that the building was initially constructed as a garage, the building requires a variance to 
the south side yard setback. There are several examples of RU6 – two dwelling housing lots in the 
immediate neighbourhood. The immediate abutting neighbours provided a letter of support.   
 
The subject property is located within the Permanent Growth Boundary. Policies within the 
Official Community Plan support the sensitive integration into existing neighbourhoods, where 
services are already in place and densification can easily be accommodated. The subject 
property is in close proximity to parks, schools, transit and recreational opportunities.  

Should the land use and variance be supported by Council, a Development Permit will be 
executed at a Staff level. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The principal dwelling and the garage were constructed in 2005. The main floor of the garage has 
been converted to a two bedroom suite with a small kitchen and main living area on the ground 
floor. The upper attic space is utilized for storage and is accessed through a separate door. The 
required parking is achieved on the site and plenty of outdoor private space is available on this 
comparatively large sized lot.      

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is located in the Rutland area of Kelowna. The Houghton Road multi-
purpose corridor is located at the end of the block providing easy access to the Rutland town 
center.  The surrounding properties are zoned as follows: 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1- Large Lot Housing Single Family Dwelling 

East 
RU1- Large Lot Housing & 

RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 

Single Family Dwelling &  

Duplex 

South RU1- Large Lot Housing Single Family Dwelling 

West RU1- Large Lot Housing Single Family Dwelling 

 

4.3     Subject Property Map: 370 Fleming Road 

 

60



Z13-0011 – Page 3 

 
 

 

4.4   Zoning Analysis 

The proposed application meets the requirements of RU1c – Large Lot Housing with carriage 
house zone as follows:  

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA PROPOSAL RU1c ZONE REQUIREMENTS  

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 1,397 m2 550 m2 

Lot Width 24.73 m 16.5 m 

Lot Depth 50.98 m 30 m 

Development Regulations 
Principal Dwelling 

Height 7.3 m 9.5 m/ 2 ½ storeys 

Front Yard 8.5 m 4.5 m or 6.0 m to garage 

Side Yard (north) 3.05 m  2.3 m (2 - 2 ½ storey) 

Side Yard (south) 8.84 m 
2.0 m (1 - 1 ½ storey) 
2.3 m (2 - 2 ½ storey) 

Rear Yard 32.7 m 7.5 m 

Proposed Carriage house 

Height  3.8m 1 ½ storeys / 4.5 m 

Front Yard 28.07m      4.5 m   

Side Yard (n)  18.6 m 2.0 m (1 - 1 ½ storey) 

Side Yard (s) 1.5 m  2.0 m (1 - 1 ½ storey) 

Rear yard 11.94  m  7.5m 

Other Requirements 

Floor Area Ratio 
Principal dwelling: 320  m2   

Carriage House: 87 m2  
27 % 

May not exceed the lesser of 90 
m2  or 75% 

Parking Stalls (#)  3 spaces  3 spaces required 

Private Open Space meets requirements 
30 m2 of private open space per 

dwelling 

 Variance required to legalize the south side yard. 

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 

61



Z13-0011 – Page 4 

 
 

 

Policy 5.2.3 Complete Suburbs.2 Support a mix of uses within Kelowna’s suburbs (see Map 5.1 - 
Urban Core Area), in accordance with “Smart Growth” principles to ensure complete 
communities. Uses that should be present in all areas of the City (consistent with Map 4.1 - 
Future Land Use Map), at appropriate locations, include: commercial, institutional, and all types 
of residential uses (including affordable and special needs housing) at densities appropriate to 
their context. 

6.0 Technical Comments   

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 
1) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permits. 
2) Operable bedroom windows required as per the 2012 edition of the British Columbia 
Building Code (BCBC 12). 

3) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2      Development Engineering Department 
See attached. 

6.3      Bylaw Services 
Illegal suite investigation. File #241993 

6.4       Fire Department 
An unobstructed and easily distinguishable firefighter access path, of 1100 mm, from 
Fleming Road to the back of the property line as well to the secondary detached suite 
main entrance is required. The new home is required to have a visible address facing 
Fleming Road. 

6.5 Fortis Gas 

FortisBC Gas has reviewed the above mentioned referral.  There is currently a gas service 
that runs to the center of the existing house but does not look like it will be affected by 
the new carriage house. Regardless the customer should dig with caution. 

7.0    Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: February 25, 2013 
Additional details provided:  May 6, 2103 

Report prepared by: 

     
Birte Decloux, Land Use Planner  
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Acting General Manager, 
Community Sustainability  

 

                                                
2 Official community plan Objective 5.2 Community Sustainability 

62



Z13-0011 – Page 5 

 
 

 

Attachments:   

Site Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Context/Site Photos 
Sustainability Checklist 

63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 17, 2013 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (GS) 

Application: A13-0008 Owner: 

Ronald McMillan 

James McMillan 

Wilma McMillan 

Address: 
3690 Berard Road 

1640 Ward Road 
Applicant: Ron McMillan 

Subject: Non-farm use in the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) application. 

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Agricultural Land Reserve appeal A13-0008 for Lot 2, Section 8, Township 26 Osoyoos 
Division Yale District Plan 1554, located at 3690 Berard Road and for Lot 3, Section 8, Township 
26 Osoyoos Division Yale District Plan 1554 except Plan B4459, located at 1640 Ward Road, 
Kelowna, B.C. for a non-farm use of agricultural land in the Agricultural Land Reserve, pursuant 
to Section 20(3) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act, be supported by Municipal Council; 
 
AND THAT Municipal Council forward the subject application to the Agricultural Land 
Commission.  

2.0 Purpose 

To obtain a Council recommendation on a proposal to operate two non-farm uses in the 
Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR).  Specifically, the applicant is seeking non-farm uses with respect 
to an activity referred to as Farmersgolf™ and a concession stand for visitors to the farm. 

3.0 Land Use Management 

The City of Kelowna is comprised of extensive agricultural land with varying crops and with 
production ranging from none to intensive.  Despite the extensive agricultural land base, agri-
tourism remains a largely undeveloped and untapped industry in an area known for its beautiful 
physical geography and tourism values.  When done right, the marriage between these two 
industries can result in great synergies with farmers earning extra income, new markets being 
created for farm product and attention being brought to the importance of this primary industry. 

73



A13-0008 – Page 2 

 
 

In the fall of 2012 the Central Okanagan Economic Development Commission (COEDC) issued a 
Request for Proposals (RFP) entitled From Agriculture to Agr-Tourism: Agri-Tourism 
Opportunities Pilot Project.  The RFP states: 

Agri-tourism development is an economic development strategy that has been 
demonstrated in a number of countries as a way for farmers to add value to their farm 
businesses. A major tourism trend focuses on a new type of visitor looking for sustainable, 
environmentally conscious holidays and authentic travel experiences – experiences that fit 
well with many agri-tourism activities. This project is aimed at creating a model for agri-
tourism development in the Central Okanagan that can be used to provide ongoing support 
and assistance to this emerging sector.    

With their proposed agri-tourism expansion concept, the applicants were one of three successful 
proposals.  As a result, the applicants are collaborating with the COEDC to improve their 
operations while raising the overall profile of agri-tourism in the Central Okanagan. 

Land Use Management staff are entirely supportive of agri-tourism when done appropriately.  To 
obtain this support, agri-tourism must enhance the existing agriculture which is conducted as the 
primary use of the land while helping to raise the profile of agriculture in our region.  This is to 
say that agri-tourism must remain subordinate to the principal use of agriculture.   

The proposed FarmersgolfTM is an extensive use of the land in that it will be played over a large 
area of land, but is not intrusive as the impact to the land is anticipated to be low.  The 
proposed concession would be conducted within an existing small structure.  The proposal is 
consistent with City policy with respect to agri-tourism (see Section 5 below).  Both the AAC 
(unanimous support, see Section 7.0 below) and Land Use Management staff feel that the 
proposed uses are consistent with agri-tourism and provide our qualified support.  Ministry of 
Agriculture staff also reviewed the application and cited no concerns. 

City staff do provide some cautionary comments for Council.  With respect to Farmersgolf, City 
staff support the use contingent on the agricultural uses remaining at, or above, the current level 
of operation.  Should agricultural activities such as livestock grazing, haying and the growing of 
produce (e.g. corn and pumpkins) diminish over time for any reason including the success of the 
agri-tourism operations, staff would no longer be supportive.   

Further, in the event that Farmersgolf becomes reasonably successful, parking is likely to become 
an issue.  Currently, parking is limited to approximately six parking spaces onsite near Berard 
Road much of the year, with an expanded parking area come late fall when the pumpkin patch 
has been harvested.  City staff doesn’t support parking spilling offsite, or to extensive areas of 
productive land being converted to parking.  As the City does not presently regulate parking 
(maximums or minimums) with respect to agri-tourism, Council may wish to recommend 
restriction of the parking area should the ALC approve the use.   

Staff have encouraged the applicants to consider exhibiting and retailing local (e.g. Okanagan) 
agricultural products only at the proposed concession.  Staff do not view the retailing of non-
farm/non-local products as desirable.  Retailing local farm products would however result in a 
win-win scenario for the applicant, local producers and the guests/tourists.  Similar to parking, 
Council may wish to recommend restricting the products that may be retailed through the 
concession. 

As a side note, but worth mentioning is that the applicants intend to work with a Certified 
Environmental Farm Planner to prepare an Environmental Farm Plan.  The farm is located in an 
area of high environmental value adjacent Mission Creek.  The values can be enhanced with 
relatively small changes which are likely to enhance the agricultural potential as well.  Staff are 
highly supportive of this type of approach to stewardship of agricultural land. 

74



A13-0008 – Page 3 

 
 

In sum, City staff recommend that Council and the ALC support this proposal.  City staff do 
however recommend that the Non-Farm Use be granted subject to periodic review with respect 
to the above-noted concerns. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background/Project Description 

The two subject properties under consideration account for approximately 45.0 hectares (111 
acres) of land, all of which is in the ALR.  In 1950 the McMillan family purchased the farm which 
was operating as a dairy farm and which continued until 1972.  Since shutting down the dairy 
operation, the land has primarily been used to grow hay and board horses.  The applicants note 
that they have been working to revive the farm operations since returning to the farm in 2004. 

The farm is currently being used to operate a number of seasonal agri-tourism activities which 
include hayrides, corn and hay maze, pumpkin patch and pumpkin slingshot.  The aforementioned 
agri-tourism activities have been permitted without the need for a “non-farm use” determination 
as the uses are consistent with the ALC’s definition of agri-tourism.   

The applicants are now seeking permission from the ALC to add Farmersgolf™ between May and 
October annually.  Having no background with this type of use, ALC staff advised City staff that 
the ALC Commissioners should have an opportunity to review this use to determine its 
consistency with the ALC’s mandate.    

Farmersgolf is a relatively new activity invented by a couple from the Netherlands in 2000.  
Currently there are fewer than 200 courses worldwide, though the activity has no presence in 
Western Canada and only three currently operating in Central and Eastern Canada.   

Farmersgolf uses a club (constructed from a Dutch wooden shoe) and a soccer ball with pails used 
for holes and flags to demark the location of the hole.  The applicants note that the game is 
played on an otherwise unaltered farm site with obstacles and hazards including the farm 
activities.  The course is not fixed and can be altered at any time (see Application, attached).   

The founders state that: “a Farmersgolf course is almost not visible in the landscape because the 
farm is the golf course. On our farm we play without problems with health or injury in between 
the cows. The cows graze on the fairway and our holes are very simple. The only thing noticed 
are the numbered flags” (see Letter of Support, attached). 

In addition to the Farmersgolf, the applicants are also seeking to augment their existing 
operations with a concession retailing a variety of products to their customers.  The small 
concession is proposed to be housed in an existing shed and the applicants are proposing to retail 
a variety of local products to the public (see p. 5 of Application, attached).  It is not immediately 
clear if the applicants seek to retail other products produced outside of Kelowna. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject properties are located in Southeast Kelowna and west of Berard Road at its terminus.  
The farm is comprised of two adjacent properties, one ~22.1 ha (~55 ac) and one ~22.8 ha (~56 
acre) for a total of ~45.0 ha. Elevations vary between 349 metres in the west and 392 metres in 
the east.  The southern property is severed by an undeveloped road and the two properties have 
a FortisGas right-of-way (see Map 1). 

  

75



A13-0008 – Page 4 

 
 

Map 1 - Subject Properties – 3690 Berard & 1640 Ward Road 

 

The western edge of the northern subject property is adjacent Mission Creek while the western 
edge of the southern property is adjacent to Casorso Swamp.  The parcels are bounded on the 
eastern edge by a steep escarpment (East Kelowna).   

Map 2 – Wetland Mapping 

 

The soils on the subject property are strongly influenced by the hydrology and hydrogeology in 
the area.  Mission Creek as Okanagan Lakes primary tributary provides for a significant influence 
on surface and groundwater conditions with spring runoff providing the greatest flows in Mission 
Creek and the highest water table.  This is not altogether surprising given that the subject 
properties are within the historic Mission Creek floodplain and both Priest and Rumohr Creek and 
numerous springs are located in the area.  

Channelized 
Streams 

Wetlands 

Mission 
Creek 

Gas ROW 

Undeveloped 
Ward Road 

76



A13-0008 – Page 5 

 
 

Zoning and land uses adjacent to the property are as follows: 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Rural/ agricultural 

South A1 – Agriculture  Yes Rural/ agricultural 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Rural/agricultural 

West A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Mission Creek / Swamp 

According to the Canada Land Inventory, the soils across the subject property vary considerably 
between Class 2 (Prime) and Class 7 (No Capability).  The Class 7 lands are associated with the 
escarpment while the majority of the land is thought to be Prime (i.e. improvable to Class 3 or 
better) agricultural land with excess water, low fertility and erosion potential.  Undesirable soil 
structure, stoniness and salinity are thought to be limiting factors in smaller pockets (see 
attached Land Capability map and legend).   

The applicants note that from an agricultural perspective, the subject property is currently used 
for hay production, pasture for grazing horses and other livestock (e.g. cattle), and the 
production of corn and pumpkins.  The applicants currently operate agri-tourism activities on the 
farm with a corn maze, hay maze and pumpkin patch in the late fall.  

Past uses of the land include being used as a dairy farm, production of silage corn, and pasture 
for dairy cattle. 

Map3 - Homesite 

 

  

Dwellings 

Entrance 

Pumpkin Patch/ 
Seasonal Parking 

Parking 

Proposed 
Concession 

Corn Maze 

Horse 
Boarding 

77



A13-0008 – Page 6 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

5.2 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future 

The subject property has a future land use designation of Resource Protection Area. Relevant 
policies include: 

Objective 5.33 Protect and enhance local agriculture1. 

Policy. 1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 

Policy .5 Agri-tourism, Wineries, Cideries, Retail Sales. Support agritourism uses that can be 
proven to be in aid of and directly associated with established farm operations. Permit wineries, 
cideries and farm retail sales (inside and outside the ALR) only where consistent with existing ALC 
policies and regulations. 

Policy .7 Non-farm Uses. Support non-farm use applications on agricultural lands only where 
approved by the ALC and where the proposed uses: 

 are consistent with the Zoning Bylaw and OCP; 

 provide significant benefits to local agriculture; 

 can be accommodated using existing municipal infrastructure; 

 minimize impacts on productive agricultural lands; 

 will not preclude future use of the lands for agriculture; 

 will not harm adjacent farm operations. 

Objective 5.34 Preserve productive agricultural land2. 

Objective 8.8 Reinforce Kelowna’s unique identity/sense of place3.  
This objective will be achieved by retaining important natural and community features while 
enhancing our downtown and other urban centres. Policies in the Environment, Arts and Culture, 
and Review of Development Application Chapters are intended to achieve this objective. 

Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines4. 
1.2 On agricultural lands, where appropriate, locate all buildings and structures, including farm 
help housing and farm retail sales, within a contiguous area (i.e. homeplate). Exceptions may be 
permitted where the buildings or structures are for farm use only; 

5.3 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

Economic Enhancement Policies5 

14. Benvoulin Flats - Mission Creek Area. Encourage on-farm drainage improvements for the 
general Benvoulin Flats - Mission Creek Area and support drainage improvements in the public 
ditch system to assist on-farm drainage; 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.33.  
2 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.34.  
3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Economic Development Chapter; p. 8.4.  
4 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Farm Protection Development Permit Guidelines 
Chapter; p. 15.3.  
5 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 150 - 152. 

78



A13-0008 – Page 7 

 
 

29. Integration. Support the establishment of a process to consider, in addition to the promotion 
of agri-tourism and direct farm marketing businesses within the community, an integrated 
approach that creates linkages to the cultural and heritage tourism sectors, in terms of 
marketing an identity of Kelowna. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Development Engineering Department 

Development Engineering has no comments at this time.  A comprehensive report will be 
provided at the time of Development Permit application should the ALC agree to the proposed 
agri-tourism uses. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: April 23, 2013  

Agricultural Advisory Committee May 9, 2013 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting on May 9, 2013 and the following recommendations were passed: 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee recommends that Council support Application No. 
A13-0008 for 3690 Berard Road / 1640 Ward Road, to obtain approval from the Agricultural 
Land Commission (ALC) under Section 20(3) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act for two 
“non-farm uses” within the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) to permit the activity of 
Farmersgolf™ to be carried out in addition to a concession stand for visitors to the farm. 

Anecdotal Comments: 

The AAC supported the application, but raised concern that Farmersgolf, even if only in 
name, has the negative connotations associated with typical golf courses.  The AAC members 
also noted that parking could be an issue on the subject property and did not want the 
parking to overwhelm the site and impact agriculture.  AAC recommended that the parking 
areas not be allowed to become permanent (e.g. paved). 

Report prepared by: 

     
Greg Sauer, Environment & Land Use Planner  
 

Reviewed by:    Todd Cashin, Manager, Environment & Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion  D. Gilchrist, Acting General Manager, Community 
Sustainability 

 

Attachments:  

Site Photos (4 pages) 
Canada Land Inventory – Land Capability and Soil Classification (3 pages) 
Subject property/zoning & ALR map (2 pages) 
Application including Letters of Support (19 pages) 

79



A13-0008 – Page 8 

 
 

Photo 1: Existing Sheds/Shelters (Proposed Concession Area) 

 80



A13-0008 – Page 9 

 
 

Photo 2: Pumpkin Patch/Late Season Parking (Between Two Dwellings) 

 81



A13-0008 – Page 10 

 
 

Photo 3: Parking Area (Near Berard Road) 

 82



A13-0008 – Page 11 

 
 

Photo 4: Horse Boarding (near Berard Road) 

 83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 9, 2013 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Land Use Management, Community Sustainability (BD) 

Application: Z10-0013  Owner: Terry John Oxley 

Address: 546 McWilliams Road Applicant: 
Terry John and Diane Marie 
Oxley 

Subject: Rezoning Application, Extension Request 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: RU1c – Large Lot Housing with a carriage house 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT in accordance with Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 10540, the deadline for 
the adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10325, Z10-0013, Lot 7, Section 26, Township 26, 
ODYD, Plan 29389, 546 McWilliams Road, be extended from May 18, 2012 to May 18, 2013;  
 
AND THAT in accordance with Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 10540, the 
deadline for the adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10325, Z10-0013, Lot 7, Section 26, 
Township 26, ODYD, Plan 29389, 546 McWilliams Road, be extended from May 18, 2013 to May  
18, 2014. 

2.0 Purpose  

To extend the date for adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw from May 18, 2012 to May 18, 2013 
and to further extend the date for adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw from May 18, 2013 to 
May 14, 2014. 

3.0 Land Use Management  

Section 2.12.1 of Procedure Bylaw No. 10540 states that: 

In the event that an application made pursuant to this bylaw is one (1) year old or older and has 
been inactive for a period of six (6) months or greater: 
 

a) The application will be deemed to be abandoned and the applicant will be notified in writing 
that the file will be closed; 

107



Z10-0013 – Page 2 

 
 

b) Any bylaw that has not received final adoption will be of no force and effect; 

c) In the case of an amendment application, the City Clerk will place on the agenda of a meeting 
of Council a motion to rescind all readings of the bylaw associated with that Amendment 
application. 
 
Section 2.12.2 of the Procedure Bylaw makes provision that upon written request by the 
applicant prior to the lapse of the application, Council may extend the deadline for a period of 
twelve (12) months by passing a resolution to that affect. 
  
By-Law No. 10325 received second and third readings on May 18, 2010 after the Public Hearing 
held on the same date. The applicant wishes to have this application remain open for an 
additional twelve (12) months in order to complete the recommendations for final adoption.  This 
project remains unchanged and is the same in all respects as originally applied for. 
 
It is noteworthy that this application pre-dated the September 2012 change in the City’s 
secondary suite process and this extension report reflects the current terminology. The property 
owner is now able to proceed with the recommendations for adoption and has confirmed that the 
carriage house is unoccupied. Given these factors, the Land Use Management Department 
recommends Council consider the request for an extension favourably; however, given the length 
of time that has lapsed, this will be the last extension that Staff will favourably support. 

Report prepared by: 

     
Birte Decloux, Land Use Planner  
/hb 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use 
      
 

Approved for Inclusion  Doug Gilchrist, Acting General Manager, Community  
     Sustainability 
 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 

108



109



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 14, 2013 

Rim No: 
 

0600-10 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

City Clerk 

Subject: 
 

BL10783- Z12-0059 – Marianne Hill (Ed Guy) – 250 and 260 Lake Avenue – (From 
the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU3 – Small Lot Housing zone) 

 Report Prepared by: Tania Tishenko 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Bylaw No. 10783, being Z12-0059 Marianne Hill (Ed Guy) – 250 and 260 Lake Avenue be 
adopted. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To consider adoption of Bylaw No. 10783, being Z12-0059 Marianne Hill (Ed Guy) – 250 and 260 
Lake Avenue in order to rezone from RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the RU3 – Small Lot 
Housing zone. 
 
Background: 
 
Bylaw No. 10783 received second and third readings by Council on December 11, 2012.  A 
copy of the Bylaw is attached.   
 
As the following conditions of adoption have been met, the Bylaw can now be adopted:  
 

1. Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure Approval; 
2. Tree Protection Plan for Heritage London Plane Tree; 
3. Development Engineering Branch; 
4. Registration of Building Envelope Covenant. 

 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
S. Fleming, City Clerk 

110



111



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 13, 2013 

Rim No: 
 

0600-10 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

City Clerk 

Subject: 
 

BL10804- TA12-0012 

 Report Prepared by: Tania Tishenko 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Bylaw No. 10804, being TA12-0012 be adopted. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To consider adoption of Bylaw No. 10804, being TA12-0012 in order to update the Zoning 
Bylaw. 
 
Background: 
 
Bylaw No. 10804 received second and third readings by Council on March 12, 2013.  A copy of 
the Bylaw is attached.   
 
As the following conditions of adoption have been met, the Bylaw can now be adopted:  
 

1. Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure Approval. 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
S. Fleming, City Clerk 

112



113



114



115



116



117



Date: 

 
May 6, 2013 
 

RIM #: 
 

0610-51 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Doug Gilchrist, Acting General Manager Community Sustainability 

Title: 
 

Development Application Process Review– Final Report and Recommendations 

 Report Prepared by: Ryan Smith, Acting Manager – Land Use Management 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the Report from the Acting General Manager, 

Community Sustainability dated May 6, 2013 with respect to the Development Application 

Process Review; 

AND THAT Council endorses the implementation of the recommendations contained in the 

Development Application Process Review Report dated April 29, 2013 as attached to the 

Report from the Acting General Manager, Community  Sustainability dated May 6, 2013, as 

budgets and resourcing permit. 

Purpose:  
 
To inform Council of the review undertaken by staff to identify opportunities to improve the 
City’s development process and to receive Council’s endorsement of the report and 
associated recommendations. 
 
Background: 
 
In the interest of delivering on the City of Kelowna’s objective of being the BEST mid-sized 
City in North America a number of important business improvement initiatives are currently 
being undertaken.  
 
This effort reinforces two of Council’s strategic priorities (identified in Council’s priority 
framework “Moving Opportunities Forward” 2012-2014): 

1) Focus on Results – Council will ensure Kelowna progresses towards its community 
goals through innovation. 

2) Deliver on our Plan – Council will work with citizens, partners and applicants to 
move opportunities forward that create value for the community.   
 

A comprehensive review and rethink of how development processes are delivered by the City 
was also a key priority recommended in the City’s 2012 Core Services Review and a highly 
ranked item in the 2012 City of Kelowna Business Process Review. 
 

118



The City’s development application processes have been in place for a considerable time with 
only minor updates. However, over time, additional regulation has been progressively added 
as circumstances have required. The sources of new regulation can be traced back to a 
variety of factors including; changes in responsibilities from higher levels of government, 
reactions to citizen concerns and the perception of negative impacts from some forms of 
development. This has gradually contributed to creating a challenging and sometimes lengthy 
development environment. In the City’s primary role as a regulator it is important to 
periodically review what is being regulated and how we regulate it in order to ensure a 
balance between regulation and facilitation is achieved.   
 
To date the project team has: 
 
Consulted  

 Completed a visioning session in order to identify the most important components of 
the development process to all stakeholders. 

 Reviewed previous development application process evaluations - completed in 2007 
and 2012. 

 Completed detailed in-person interviews with 14 past customers and more than 30 
staff. 

 Deployed an online survey to UDI and CHBA membership which received 20 responses. 

 Solicited comments from a suggestions/issues box. 
 
Analyzed  

 Compiled and sorted all feedback into categories. 

 Ranked issues identified through the interviews (based on items identified in the 
visioning session). 

 Completed research on best practices across Canada. 
 
Developed Solutions  

 Developed recommendations for improvement. 

 Drafted the final report and reviewed with City stakeholders. 

 Circulated final report to external stakeholder groups. 
 
Provided that Council endorses the DAPR report, the next steps for the project are as follows: 

 
1. Consider realignments to departmental structure consistent with recommendations of 

the DAPR. 
2. Assign project lead for Development Application Process Review implementation. 
3. Create a 1 yr. work plan and project charter for implementation. 
4. Deliver on year 1 work plan. 
5. Report back to Council and stakeholders annually regarding implementation progress. 

 
As necessary, future amendments to existing bylaws, regulations and Council policies linked 
to this review will be brought forward to a public meeting for consideration.   
 
Internal Circulation:  
 

119



Director of Infrastructure Planning 
Director of Policy and Planning 
Director of Development Services 
Director of Civic Operations 
Urban Land Use Manager 
Environment and Land Use Manager 
Director of Communications 
 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
 
External industry associations and customers have been surveyed and consulted during the 
Development Application Process Review and have been circulated on the final version of the 
report. 
 
Personnel Implications:  
 
The recommendations of the Development Application Process Review report are to be 
implemented by re-purposing existing resources and using temporary contracted specialists 
where necessary. In addition, current vacant positions in the Community Sustainability 
Division will be reexamined in 2014 to support implementation initiatives.  
 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
Recommendations will need to be implemented in a way which complements and respects the 
provincial regulatory requirements. These include the Local Government Act, Community 
Charter, BC Building Code, Safety Standards Act, Land Title Act and Strata Property Act.  
 
Existing Policy: 
 
Existing policy/regulating documents that may be impacted by the results of the Development 
Process Review are: 
 

a) Official Community Plan (Review work already underway) 
b) Subdivision and Development Servicing Bylaw (*Priority Area identified by the DAPR) 
c) Development Application Procedures Bylaw (Recent review completed, amendments to 

be performed as necessary) 
d) Zoning Bylaw (*Priority Area identified by the DAPR) 

 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
To date, this initiative has been completed with no additional financial resources. As the 
implementation plan develops, future costs will be requested through the standard budgeting 
process.  
 
Considerations not applicable to this report:  
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: N/A 
 

120



Communications Comments: N/A 
 
Alternate Recommendation: N/A 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 
D. Gilchrist, Acting General Manager of Community Sustainability 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                  
 
 
cc:  Director of Infrastructure Planning 

Director of Policy and Planning 
Director of Development Services 
Director of Civic Operations 
Director of Corporate Services  
Urban Land Use Manager 
Environment and Land Use Manager 
Director of Communications 

 
 

 
Key Messages  
 
City Staff have completed the Development Application Process Review report. 
 
The DAPR Report recommends improvements (process and structural) do a number of 
different components of the development application process. 
 
A dedicated support function is required to ensure on-going accountability for 
implementation of DAPR report recommendations. 
 
Implementation can begin as soon as Council has endorsed the DAPR Report. 

  

121



 

Development Application Process Review 
City of Kelowna 
 
 
April 29, 2013 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
City of Kelowna 
1435 Water Street 
Kelowna, BC  V1Y 1J4 
TEL 250 469-8626 
FAX 250 862-3349 
kelowna.ca 

122



CITY OF KELOWNA  Development Application Process Review 

 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 
 

Executive Summary – Pg.3 
 
1.0 Introduction, Objectives and Methodology of the Review – Pg.5 
 
2.0 Context for the Development Application Process Review – Pg.11 
 
3.0 Current Department Roles and Responsibilities in the Development Application 

Process – Pg.15 
 
4.0  Core Strengths of Today‟s Development Application Process – Pg.17 
 
5.0 Issues Identified in the Development Application Process Review – Pg.19 
 
6.0 Best Practices Research – Pg.22 
 
7.0 Recommendations for Improvement – Pg.23 
 
8.0 Implementation – Pg.34 
 
 
Appendix “A” – Pg.35 
DAPR Objectives 
 
 
Appendix “B” – Pg.36 
DAPR Survey Results 
 
 
Appendix “C” – Pg.42 
DAPR Feedback Evaluation Matrix 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

123



3 | P a g e  
 

 
Executive Summary 

 
History 
 
The City of Kelowna has initiated this Development Application Process Review (“DAPR”) in 
response to recommendations from the 2012 Core Services Review, the 2012 Business 
Processes Review, Council comments, Citizen Survey and industry feedback. All sources 
recognized that the existing Development Application Process is a high priority in the 
community and could be improved. The primary underlying goal is to move from a 
regulatory based environment to a facilitation model that focuses on performance goals, 
solution-oriented decision making and improved communication with stakeholders including 
the Community, and applicants. This goal recognizes the important balance between being 
a regulator of safe, efficient, sustainable, high quality development and acting as a 
facilitation resource to the City‟s development clients.  
 
The scope of the Development Application Process Review was not restricted to large 
development. It examined processes common to all development from two lot subdivisions 
to secondary suites, new home construction, mid and high-rise multi-family development 
and Area Structure Plans. The „customer‟ is therefore not restricted to corporate 
developers, but also captures first time applicants and other stakeholders participating in 
the process including the general public.  
 
The City of Kelowna has previously (in 2007 and 2012) reviewed portions of the 
development application process. While there have been some successes, the resulting 
recommendations have only been partially implemented due, in part, to a limited priority 
being assigned to the project, no accountability structure being recognized in the 
implementation plan, and an unrealistic/uncoordinated implementation strategy. This 
report will make recommendations for clear and focused implementation strategy to follow 
through on the recommendations. 
 
For clarity, Phase I of this initiative will result in high level recommendations, by category, 
(contained in this report) and Phase II will be a detailed, resourced, implementation plan.  
 
The Vision/Objectives 
 
This process review began by taking development process stakeholders from the City‟s staff 
through a customer/stakeholder oriented visioning/objectives session, to help identify the 
essential needs of all customers in the development process. The objectives derived from 
this session were later used to evaluate feedback obtained through internal and external 
stakeholder interviews. 
 
The Consultation Process 
 
During the stakeholder interview phase of the project, in-person interviews were 
completed with more than 30 staff and 13 members of the development community. The 
development community was also circulated an online survey which garnered an additional 
20 responses. The resulting feedback was categorized by theme and ranked in a matrix. 
The matrix criteria were weighted towards issues that had the largest customer service 
impact and thus the most significant benefit if improved. 
 
 
 
 

124



4 | P a g e  
 

The Research Process 
 
The development processes of some of the most exemplary municipalities in BC, Alberta, 
and Ontario were then examined. This served to help benchmark Kelowna‟s existing 
practices, pinpoint areas in need of improvement, and identify improvements that would 
be practical to implement. All of which are to be consistent with Kelowna‟s Corporate 
Vision of becoming North America‟s best mid-sized City. 
 
The Recommendations and Implementation Plan 
 
Informed by the City‟s corporate vision and best practices research, the DAPR team created 
a suite of recommendations aimed at improving, not just the development process, but the 
culture associated with the development process. The issues and recommendations are 
organized according to the following categories: 
 

 Objectives, Vision and Culture  

 Structure  

 Accountability 

 Pre-Application/”One Window Service” Centre 

 Application Intake, File Management, Customer Communication  

 Website, Electronic File Management (process automation) 

 Community Communications 

 “Outside the Box” 

Many of the recommendations for improvement are foundational customer service 
practices which will help to build the capacity of the development process in order to allow 
for more significant improvements and to promote innovation. It is also worth noting that 
many of these proposed improvements have been identified in the previous reviews but 
were not formally implemented. The exception to this is the section which focuses on 
Community Communications. This aspect of the development application process connects 
the application process to the community. Given the many communications improvements 
over the past decade that are the result of new technology, both Council and staff 
identified this as an area of opportunity for improvement. It is recommended that a 
comprehensive plan for community communications including community notification, 
input and file tracking occur in an early phase of implementation.  
 
The report concludes with several recommendations including: on-going monitoring 
(measuring success) and accountability to ensure a strong and consistent implementation. 
In order to ensure accountability and resourcing for implementation, it is recommended 
that a Development/Business Process Improvement function be created to implement 
improvements on an on-going basis. This function would report to the GM of Community 
Sustainability and exist until the recommendations of the DAPR report are implemented.  
 
Also recommended is a new function or prioritization process for resources to improve 
capacity for on-going strategic planning, special projects and policy implementation 
related to current/emerging planning and development issues.  
 

125



5 | P a g e  
 

The implementation of the recommendations in this report will be guided by a new project 
charter which will be created after the endorsement of this report. The DAPR Team has 
recommended that improvements initiated in Year 1 should target the following themes: 
 

 Structure of Stakeholder Departments 
 Applicant Communication and File Management  
 Accountability  
 Community Communications 
 Pre-Application Process Improvements 

 
  

126



6 | P a g e  
 

1.0 Introduction, Objectives and Methodology of the Review 

1.1 Introduction  
 

A comprehensive review of how development processes are delivered by the 
City of Kelowna was a key priority recommended in the City‟s 2012 Core 
Services Review (Acton) and a highly ranked item in the City‟s 2012 Business 
Process Review.  

 
The City‟s development processes have been in place for a considerable time 
with only minor updating. New regulation has been progressively added to the 
process as circumstances have required it. The sources of new regulation can 
be traced back to a variety of factors, including downloading from higher 
levels of government, reaction to citizen concerns and the perception of 
negative impacts from some forms of development. Additional layers of 
regulation have gradually contributed to a development and business 
environment that leans more towards regulation than facilitation. While both 
are necessary elements of the development process, it is important to revisit 
the balance between them from time to time. 

 
 1.2 Project Scope 
 

This project reviewed the City‟s development processes from the Pre-
Application Development Inquiry stage to the Building Permit Occupancy 
stage. This scope spans the entire development process. Also included were 
any bylaws or online systems related to the operation of the development 
process. 

 
1.3 Objectives  

 
1.3.1 Objective Identification - Facilitated Workshop 

 
Through a facilitated workshop (with representation from all City 
stakeholder departments) aimed at pinpointing the objectives for a 
high performing Development Process the DAPR team identified the 
following: 

 
 Communication 

 
Ensure clear and regular communication with customers; among 
staff and with external stakeholders (including the community) 
during the development process. 

 

 Timing / Timelines 
 

Maintain predictable and defined timelines that are respected by 
all stakeholders in the development process.  

 
 Flexibility / Innovation 

 
Support staff ingenuity and be receptive of new ideas and 
innovation in the development application process. 

 

127



7 | P a g e  
 

 Equity / Fairness 
 

Provide fair and reasonable treatment to applicants, 
stakeholders and the community in the development process. 

 
 Consistency / Certainty 

 
Ensure consistency of process and direction for staff, applicants 
and stakeholders in the development process. 

 
 Transparency 

 
Ensure transparency of process and decisions for the benefit of 
staff, applicants, and the community in the development 
process.  

 

 Professionalism 
 

Support a high level of professionalism among staff, applicants 
and stakeholders in the development process. 

 
 Quality/Value Added 

 
Encourage staff and applicant contributions that bring value to 
the development process, and ultimately, the built (or end) 
product of the development process. Review and remove low 
value process. 

 
  1.3.2 Purpose of the Objectives 
 

The objectives identified above have been used in several ways to 
guide and shape this review including: 
 

 Issues evaluation: The objectives were used as part of a matrix ranking 
system to help determine which issues held the highest benefit if 
improvement efforts were undertaken. 
 

 Recommendation development: The objectives statements (along with 
Best Practices and Staff consultation) were used to help focus the 
nature of recommended improvements to the development process. 
 

 Implementation Plan: The objective statements should be used to help 
prioritize the recommended improvements to the development process. 
Process improvements that address multiple objectives should be 
prioritized higher for implementation. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

128



8 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 Process Review Methodology  

 
  1.4.1 Project Charter Creation and Approval 
 

A Project Charter was created to guide and focus the Development 
Application Process Review in the fall of 2012 and received final 
endorsement from the Project Sponsor – Doug Gilchrist, Acting General 
Manager – Community Sustainability in early January 2013.  

 
  1.4.2 Project Team Selection 
 

The Project Manager and Project Team for the Development 
Application Process Review were selected to ensure representation 
from a variety of primary internal stakeholder groups. The team 
includes both CUPE and management staff with backgrounds in both 
the public and private sector and with a variety of local governments.  
 
Project Sponsor: Doug Gilchrist (Acting GM, Community 

Sustainability Division) 
Project Manager:  Ryan Smith (Acting Manager, Land Use 

Management) 
Project Team:  Abigail Riley (Land Use Planner) 

Doug Patan (Building and Permitting Branch 
Manager) 

Issues 
Evaluation 

Matrix 

• Included in Matrix 
Ranking 

• Weighted to reflect 
objectives with largest 
customer benefit 

Recommendation 
Development 

• Objectives used to focus 
the recommended process 
improvements 

Implementation 
Plan 

• Implementation Plan 
priorities influenced by 
Objective statements 

Development 

Application 

Process 

Objectives 

129



9 | P a g e  
 

Phase 1 

Project Charter 

Project Team Selected 

Objectives Workshop 

Stakeholder Interviews 
and Survey 

Issues Reconciliation 
and Matrix analysis 

Best Practices Research 
and Recommendation 

Development 

DPR Report Review/ 
Endorsement 

Phase 2 

Implementation 

(Update Project Charter) 

Bernard Burgat (Development Engineering 
Technician) 

      Jordan Hettinga (Manager of Real Estate Services) 
       

1.4.3 Vision/Objectives Workshop with Internal Stakeholders 
 

A facilitated workshop was held with a variety of internal stakeholders 
early in the DAPR to create a common vision and understanding of the 
objectives of a customer-focused Development Process. All City 
departments involved in the development process were represented.  
 
The workshop produced the objectives described in Section 1.3.  

 

 
1.4.4 External Stakeholder Interviews 

 
Two team members performed thirteen 1 hour interviews 
with development community stakeholders who have 
recent experience with the City‟s development processes. 
Included in this group were land developers, multi-family 
developers, engineers, designers, architects and builders. 
Each interview was conducted with the same set of 
questions during a 2 week period in January 2013. 

 
  1.4.5 Internal Stakeholder Interviews 
 

Twenty-three internal staff members were interviewed, 
and many others provided input by email or via informal 
meetings. 

 
  1.4.6  Online Survey 

 
Twenty external stakeholders responded to an online 
survey. A summary of the results is provided later in this 
report (Appendix B). 

 
  1.4.7 Feedback/Issues Evaluation Matrix 
 

The DAPR team organized commonly themed feedback/issues, and 
created a matrix to help identify those with the highest value for 
improvement (in terms of impact to customers of the development 
process and other objectives identified in the Visioning session).   

130



10 | P a g e  
 

 
  1.4.8 Targeted Best Practices Research  
 

Best Practices Research was targeted at issues that ranked highest on 
the matrix. The team identified municipalities for best practices 
research through interview responses, survey responses, online 
research, and industry word of mouth. Research was not limited to 
like-size municipalities; rather, it targeted those that were identified 
as having great customer and development services. 

 
1.4.9  Discussions on Potential Improvement Strategies – Small Staff Meetings 

 
The Project Manager conducted a series of meetings with internal 
process stakeholders to solicit ideas for potential process 
improvements, review suggested best practice improvements, and 
reinforce the process.  

 
1.4.10 Formulated Recommendations for Development Process Improvements 
 

Recommendations for process improvements were formulated based 
on:  

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

DAPR 
Recommendations 

Staff consultation 
from a variety of 

internal 
stakeholder groups 

The ability of an 
improvement to 

meet multiple 
DAPR objectives 

DAPR Team 
Discussion 

DAPR Matrix 
ranking to 

prioritize high 
value issues  

Best Practices 
Research 

Recommendations 
from previous 
Development 

Process Review 
reporting that has 

gone un-
implemented 

Development 
Application 

Process Review 
reports completed 

for other 
municipalities 

131



11 | P a g e  
 

Development 
Application 

Process 
Review 

Corporate Plan 
Direction 

Previous Process 
Review 

Initiatives 

Council Focuses Provincial 
Legislation 

UDI/CHBA 

Business Process 
Review and Core 
Services Review 

OCP , Zoning 
Bylaw and 

Subdivision 
Bylaw Reviews 

1.4.11 Phase 2 Implementation Recommendations Created 
 

The implementation recommendations were created based on analysis 
of past Development Application Process Review implementation and 
Corporate Plan direction. 
 
The recommendations have been organized to: 
 
 Create accountability and dedicate resources for implementation 
 Prioritize the implementation of strong „basic‟ business practices 

that will form the foundation for more complex and innovative 
improvements in the future 

 Monitor success of implemented improvements 
  

1.4.12 Report out on recommended Development Process Improvements 
 

Report circulated to all stakeholder departments and external 
development partners who participated in the process. 

 
2.0 Context for the Development Application Process Review 
 

The DAPR project had many different influences. The following sections summarize 
the primary policies, regulations and context factors that informed or impacted the 
project.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

132



12 | P a g e  
 

2.1 The DAPR Project is aligned with the following higher level City of Kelowna 
policy directions and Provincial regulation: 

  
2.1.1 Corporate Plan 

 
The DAPR is aligned with the overarching Corporate Planning strategy to 
“reorganize for greater flexibility, collaboration, and accountability”, and 
correlates to the following objectives: 

Performance Excellence 

 Codify and formally rethink business processes 
 Streamline decision making and  prioritization 
 Incubate and adopt innovations and best practices 
 Encourage employee-led continuous improvement 
 Make results visible to interested stakeholders 
 Encourage cross-functional teams 

 
Passionate Public Service 

 Document policies, processes and procedures 
 Clearly understand expectations, roles and contributions 

 
Responsive Customer Service 

 Continuously update processes to suit changing customer needs and desires 
 Offer business (and user) friendly services and processes 

 
Pioneering Leadership 

 Initiate significant improvements to high-profile service 
 Monitor new approaches from other municipalities and industry best 

practices 
  

133



13 | P a g e  
 

2.1.2 2012-2014 Council Priorities 
 

With regard to Planning and Development, Council has identified the following 
focus in their 2012-2014 “Moving Opportunities Forward” document:  

 

 

 
 
  This document also summarizes Council‟s main focus areas as: 
 

o Focus on Results 
o Grow our Economy 
o Enhance  citizens‟ quality of life 
o Deliver on Our Plan 
o Proactive and Pragmatic Leadership 

 
The objectives and recommendations of this Development Application Process 
Review support the following Council opportunities: 

 
 Achieving Quality Outcomes 
 Collaborative Approaches 
 Innovation and Risk Taking are Valued 
 Consistency and Alignment 

 

134



14 | P a g e  
 

2.1.3 In-Process Initiatives Impacted By or Impacting the Development 
Process Review 

 
The following in-progress initiatives may be referenced in this report.  

 
 Official Community Plan – Streamlining/Efficiencies Review 
 Subdivision and Development Servicing Bylaw – Update for consistency with 

Official Community Plan 
 Zoning Bylaw – Streamlining/Efficiencies Review 

 
Some recommendations in this report may impact the focus/direction of these 
initiatives and therefore each will need to be reviewed after the endorsement 
of this report.  

 
  2.1.4 Provincial Legislation 
 

The development process in British Columbia is regulated by the following 
Provincial Legislation: 

  
 Local Government Act 
 Community Charter 
 Land Title Act 
 Strata Property Act 
 BC Building Code 

 
This legislation was considered and may be referenced in the 
recommendations of this report. 

  
 2.2 Analysis of Previous Development Application Process Reviews 
 

 In the last 6 years, the City of Kelowna has undertaken two Development 
Application Process reviews. Each differed slightly in scope and objectives.  

 
2.2.1 City of Kelowna Development Application Process Improvement Report 

(Taylor, 2007) and Development Application Process Review 2012 
 

The City of Kelowna undertook a comprehensive Development Process 
Review in 2007 which was led by a consultant and a focused 
Development Process Review in 2012 conducted by the City‟s Strategic 
Initiatives Department.  

 
The recommendations in both reports were only partially implemented.  
 
From the 2007 report the following process improvements were made: 

 
 Website updated 
 New application forms and checklists created 
 Development Review Team (DRT) created 
 „Planner of the day‟ concept implemented 
 Improvements to many types of application processes (eg. 

Development Permits required in advance of Preliminary 
Subdivision to improve Hillside development practices) 

 
 

135



15 | P a g e  
 

Land Use 
Management 

Development 
Services 

City Clerks 
Office 

Infrstructure 
Planning 

Policy and 
Planning 

Real Estate 
Services 

Civic 
Operations 

Community 
and Other 

Stakeholders 

The 
customer 

External 
Technical 
Agencies 

 
2.2.2 From the 2012 Development Application Process Review, 4 of the 12 

recommendations were implemented: 
  

 Mandatory attendance at Development Application Review 
Meetings and the creation of detailed meeting agendas. 

 Improved Terms of Reference for Development Review Team 
(DRT) 

 Improvements to standardized circulation comments. 
 Expanded access to Development Application (DA) tracking 

system for all City departments involved in the development 
process. 

 
2.2.3 Several recommendations that will be made later in this report also 

appeared in either the 2007 or 2012 reports. There appears to be a 
combination of reasons why the recommendations from both reports 
were only partially implemented, including: 

 
 Limited priority assigned to project implementation 
 No accountability structure in the implementation plan 
 Unrealistic and un-coordinated implementation plan 
 Lack or resources available for implementation 

 
The recommendations of this report will attempt to address these 
issues in the implementation plan. 

 
3.0 Current Department Roles and Responsibilities in the Development Application 

Process  
 

The following are a list of City Departments with primary (file management) and 
secondary (file contributors) responsibilities in the development application process. 
The diagram below shows those departments with primary responsibilities at the 
core of the process while those with secondary responsibilities on the periphery. It is 
important to note that the roles of each department below are limited to primary 
roles with regard to the development process and are not a complete list of all 
responsibilities.  

 
 3.1 Departments and Roles 
 

Land Use Management 
 

This department guides 
development within our 
town centres, urban 
areas, and rural areas. 
Land Use Management 
reviews development 
proposals to ensure the 
Official Community Plan 
and other City policies 
are being implemented 
and followed.  
 
They are the primary 

136



16 | P a g e  
 

file managers for Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment, Area 
Structure Plan, Rezoning, Development Permit (all types), Development 
Variance Permit, Liquor License, ALR, and, Temporary Use Permit 
Applications. Land Use Management performs planning policy, zoning 
bylaw and urban design reviews. 

 
Development Services 

 
Responsible for Building Permit, Development Engineering Review and 
Subdivision. The Building and Permitting Branch processes  
Building and Plumbing Permit applications for review, performs 
inspections and monitors compliance. The Development Engineering 
Branch is responsible for Civil Engineering design and construction 
related to new development. The Subdivision Approvals Branch reviews 
subdivision applications for compliance with the Land Title Act, Local 
Government Act and Strata Property Act. 
 
 The Development Services Department also operates the „One Window 
Application Centre service. 

 
Policy and Planning 
 
The Policy & Planning Department develops and oversees approval and 
implementation of long-term plans to advance community 
sustainability. The department's work is undertaken in consultation 
with the community, stakeholders and interdepartmental staff.  
 
Policy and Planning handles preparation of the Official Community Plan 
as well as land use related plans such neighborhood and sector plans. 
Plans such as the Community Climate Action Plan, Agriculture Plan, 
Housing Strategy, and Commercial Study are also managed by the 
Policy and Planning Department. 

 
Infrastructure Planning 

 
Infrastructure Planning (IPLAN) department develops long-range 
infrastructure service and capital plans for all City-owned capital 
assets, including parks and natural areas, multi-modal transportation 
systems and utility networks and buildings. IPLAN promotes an 
integrated and collaborative planning and design approach in order to 
achieve high levels of performance and build the physical support 
systems for a sustainable, creative and liveable city. 
 
The department provides technical support and design review to the 
development application process by assessing proposed developments 
and their potential impact on the City‟s infrastructure systems. IPLAN 
also assesses any potential impact to the City‟s capital budgets to 
ensure sound fiscal management, appropriate levels of investment and 
foster funding partnerships with the development community. 

 
Real Estate Services 

 
Real Estate Services Branch of the Real Estate & Building Services 
Department is responsible for the fair and equitable acquisition, 

137



17 | P a g e  
 

disposition, development, management and maintenance of the City‟s 
real estate assets. During the development process, they ensure that 
City required land rights are obtained such as utility or public access 
Rights-of-way. They also ensure that land identified in the OCP for 
future road, park or utilities is protected or acquired. This group 
provides circulation feedback on development files as relevant. 

 
Civic Operations 

Infrastructure Operations is responsible for the sustainable 
maintenance and operations of City roadways, parkland, landfill 
and utilities. 
 
This department maintains the public realm infrastructure constructed 
and/or transferred to the City during the development process, 
including parks, natural spaces, sewerage systems, water 
infrastructure, roads, and boulevards. 

 
   Office of the City Clerk 
 

Provides services to Council and their Committees, statutory and 
procedural information related to all levels of government legislation, 
creates bylaws and policies, conducts Municipal Elections and is 
responsible for the execution of all legal City documents within the 
complex legal environment in which local governments operate.   
 
This branch works with the Land Use Management Branch to collect, 
review, and publish Council reports relating to development and 
structures City Council‟s meeting agendas. 

 
4.0  Core Strengths of Today’s Development Application Process 
 

Both the external stakeholder interviews and online survey helped to identify the 
following strengths of the City‟s development process: 

 
 Staff 

 
Staff is hardworking and knowledgeable. 
 
Many staff members have years of experience working with/in the 
Okanagan‟s development industry. 
 
Many staff are willing to go the „extra-mile‟ for customers. 

 
 One Window Application Centre 

 
One Window Application Centre concept is highly valued by customers 
and many internal staff. 

 
 Development Review Team (DRT)* 

 
A focused and business-like Development Review Team can be very 
effective in a municipal context, and many municipalities have either 
adopted the practice in the past few years, or are considering it. Many 

138



18 | P a g e  
 

customers have mentioned the feedback from this staff group as 
beneficial. 
 
*Further improvements are underway and more suggested 
improvements are identified in this report. 
 

 Development Application Review Meeting (DAR) 
 

Weekly staff meeting where new applications and development 
inquiries are reviewed by Land Use Management, Development 
Services, Infrastructure Planning, Real Estate, Policy and Planning, and 
Bylaw Services staff. 

 
 Development Application Tracking system integration with mapping and 

other permitting types 
 

Although troubled by inconsistent data input and updating, the City‟s 
development application tracking system allows for detailed 
application tracking and statistical reporting, and has strong 
compatibility with the City‟s mapping services. 
 
*Many users noted room for improvement on system use. 

 
 Committed Management  

 
Managers working in the Development Process are highly committed 
and responsive to customers.  

 
 Council‟s Consistency and practical direction 

 
Customers note their appreciation for the current Council‟s clear 
direction and practicality. 

  

139



19 | P a g e  
 

 
5.0 Key Interview and Survey Results 
 

Issues identified by both internal and external stakeholders interviewed in the City‟s 
Development Process Review appear below. The feedback does not present an 
exhaustive list, rather it represents the most commonly identified issues/parts of 
the process that were highlighted for improvement.  

 
5.1 Objectives, Vision and Culture 

 
  -Lack of flexibility, problem solving and „facilitative‟ approach by some staff. 
  -Staff to be more empowered to make decisions. 
  -Some staff lack a „big picture‟ understanding of the Development Process. 

-Inconsistent approach to and understanding of internal and external 
customer service expectations. 

 
5.2 Structure 

 
-Multiple File Managers/Planners (and Department managers) on a single 
development application slows issue resolution and decision making, and can 
create inconsistency.  
-Lack of coordination between Policy and Planning, Land Use Management and 
Development Services on policy updates and implementation. Potentially a 
lack of resources, and prioritization structure to initiate and deliver special 
planning and development projects. 
-No structure for ownership or implementation of results for previous 
development process review recommendations. 
-Competing departmental objectives create internal conflict and disputes that 
cannot be resolved in a timely fashion. 
 

5.3 Accountability 
 

-General application timelines are not well documented or available to 
customers and new staff. 
-No formally documented internal dispute resolution processes exist for 
Planning issues as they do for Development Engineering issues. 
-Structure makes it difficult for managers to understand decision making 
hierarchy. 
-No formal documentation of roles and responsibilities for staff and 
stakeholders participating in the development process. 
-Responsibility for site grading inspection in new subdivision is unclear (after 
subdivision approval). 
-Transportation Planning feedback and decision making on development 
applications takes too long and is disorganized. Requirements for Traffic 
Impact Studies can be unclear and hard to obtain. 
-Late communication of requirements (late hits) to developers during the 
development process is still occurring. 

 
5.4 Pre-Application/One Window Service Centre 

 
  -Pre-application feedback is often incomplete, slow to generate. 

-Format for pre-application feedback is inconsistent. 
  -Confusion about the proper avenues for pre-application consultation. 
  -No standardized checklists exist for pre-application meetings. 

140



20 | P a g e  
 

-DRT could be valuable but too many stakeholders are included and 
development community is unclear about protocol, timing, etc… 
-Development Application Review meetings and informal pre-application 
meeting requirements not coordinated or communicated effectively. 
-Succession plan required to ensure high levels of customer service can be 
maintained at the One Window Application Centre.  

 
5.5 Application Intake, File Management, Customer Communication 

 
-No standardized follow-up procedure after a customer has submitted a 
development application. 
-Long delays between file set up and contact with the customer. 
-Incomplete applications are accepted and circulated by One Window 
Application Centre. This can cause delays for applicants and unrealistic 
expectations. 
-In many instances timelines are not communicated when application is 
submitted. 
-Process can be very confusing to applicants and there is not enough regular 
contact from file managers. 
-Circulation comments are not communicated to applicants in a standard 
format (or in some instances at the same time). Conflicting direction is 
sometimes received in circulation comments. 
-Process and requirements for the execution and timing of Servicing 
Agreements, Landscape Agreements and Performance bonding needs to be 
reviewed and improved for the customer. 
-Meeting minutes/outcomes are not consistently circulated after meetings 
with customers. 
-Notification to applicants regarding their inclusion on a Council agenda may 
occur at the last minute. The Council report/agenda process can leave File 
Managers insufficient time to contact their customers to notify of the timing. 
-Disconnect between development approvals and operations and maintenance 
still exists and can cause „late hits‟.    

  
5.6 Website, Electronic File Management Improvements (process automation) 

  
-Low staff, applicant, community awareness of online application tracking and 
information capabilities on website. 
-Website information updates are slow or simply not possible. 
-Some desire for electronic submission (not currently available). 
-Public ability to track development application progress is desirable. 

 
5.7 Key Online Survey Results 

An online survey was also used to help determine areas of the City‟s 
Development Application Process that required improvement. The following is 
a brief summary of the most important results. Graphical analysis for the 
survey results is available in Appendix “B”. 

 
5.7.1  Last Interaction with the City‟s Development Application Process  

 
Most survey respondents had an interaction with the City‟s 
development process within 6 months of the survey date. This 
confirmed that respondent‟s feedback was based on recent experience 
in the development process and therefore very relevant. 

141



21 | P a g e  
 

 
5.7.2 Part of Development Application Process Used by Survey Respondent

  
The survey results show that most survey respondents reported 
experience with many parts of the development process. Most results 
showed experience with Rezoning, Development Permit, Subdivision 
and Building Permit. 
 

5.7.3 Bylaws/Policies Needing Review  
 

The survey results showed that most customers feel that the City‟s 
Zoning Bylaw and Subdivision and Development Servicing Bylaw rank 
highest in terms of needing a review/update. 

 
  5.7.4 Performance on Key Customer Service Indicators  
 

The survey results showed average to poor results in several key 
customer service categories (timeliness, fairness, outcomes); however, 
quite well in the “Courtesy of Staff” category. 

 
  5.7.5 Overall Customer Service Performance  
 

Approximately 70% of survey respondents said that the City‟s Customer 
Service levels were between satisfactory, excellent (and Don‟t change 
a thing!) whereas 30% of respondents ranked the process as 
inconsistent or poor. 

  

142



22 | P a g e  
 

 
6.0 Best Practices Research 

 6.1 Municipalities Researched  
 

British Columbia: Surrey, Vernon, Langley, Coquitlam, Vancouver, 
Kamloops, Chilliwack 

 
   Ontario: Guelph, Hamilton, London, Kitchener, Cambridge, Brantford 
 
   Alberta: Calgary, Edmonton 
  
 6.2 Summary of Best Practices – Municipal Development Application Processes  

Objectives, 
Vision, and 
Culture 
 

-Planning management 

team encouraging shared 

staff vision of 

„facilitation‟ 

 

-„Push-down‟ approach to 

support staff-level 

decision making 

 

Website, Electronic 
File Management 
(process 
automation) 
 

-Easily navigable websites (1 

click to development info) 

-Online timelines and 

development statistics 

-Online development 

application tracking 

-Online electronic 

application submissions 

-Holistic and malleable 

computerized development 

file tracking system 

 

Structure 
 

-„Business Facilitator‟ 

involvement in 

dispute/issue resolution 

-Dedicated process 

manager position to 

oversee ongoing 

maintenance and 

improvement of 

development process, 

separate from “process 

content” 

-Formalized Development 

Application business group 

to oversee ongoing 

maintenance and 

improvement of 

development processes 

-Single “file manager” / 

“single point of contact” 

who drives process (pre-

application to DP 

issuance) 

-One-Window Application 

Centre concept 

 

Application Intake, File 
Management, Customer 
Communication 
 

-Tiered or streamed pre-application processes 

(responding to project complexity) 

-Established points of formal communication 

with applicant 

-Council delegated authority for Director of 

Planning/Development Permit Board decisions 

 

Accountability 
 

-Dispute resolution through 

staff/management „escalation 

model‟ to arrive at corporate 

decision 

-Established points of formal 

communication with applicant 

 

Pre- Application/One 
Window Service Centre 
 

-Development Review Team  

-Mandatory pre-application 

meetings (Strongly encouraged for 

highlighting major issues and 

submission requirements and 

avoiding late hits 

-Heavily structured pre-

application processes 

-Complete applications required 

-Application submissions by 

appointment with „file manager‟ 

(for more complex applications) 

-Complete applications required 

before „the clock‟ starts and 

circulation/review processes begin 

(Planning Technician review) 

 

143



23 | P a g e  
 

7.0 Recommendations for Development Application Process Improvement 
 
The recommendations below were derived from the Best Practices Research, Corporate and 
Council direction, and objectives which were identified in the Development Process 
Objectives workshop (Communication, Timelines, Fairness, Equity, Transparency, 
Professionalism, Flexibility, Innovation, Quality and Value Added). The recommended 
improvements are sorted into “Management”, “Staff”, and “All” categories for each 
component of the process. These correspond to the level responsible for the 
implementation of the recommendation.  
 
 7.1 Objectives, Vision and Culture 
 

One of the primary challenges of the City‟s development process from both internal 
and external stakeholders is that the culture of the process is not always one that is 
focused on facilitation but instead relies heavily on regulations. The following 
recommendations are meant to refocus the culture as one that encourages 
facilitation and solutions-oriented decision making (with consistent supporting 
policy). 

 
Management 
 
Managers/leaders involved in the development process must 
actively reinforce vision, objectives, roles, expectations for 
the Development Application Process and Performance.  
 
 File Manager role/responsibilities created to reflect 
“facilitation” focus. 
 
Management focus on empowering file managers. Annual 
staff training focused on facilitation and leadership. 

 
Innovative ideas that improve the process or add value for 
customers should be rewarded and encouraged. 

 
Staff 
 
Subjective design feedback to be reduced. Design critique 
to focus on performance objectives of design guidelines. 
 
Complete review of Zoning Bylaw including: Commercial 
zones, Industrial zones, Public and Institutional zones, 
Landscaping and Screening, Specific Use Regulations, 
General Development Regulations, Interpretation – General 
Definitions. 
 
All 
 
Development Process „Policies/Operations‟ manual to be 
created to document specific roles and responsibilities, 
direction and practices for all staff involved in the process. 

  

Objectives Targeted:  
 

-Communication 

-Consistency/Certainty 

-Quality/Value Added 
 
Major 
Recommendations:  
 
Development Process 

Operations Manual 

 

Increased staff 

empowerment 

 

Reinforce corporate and 

process objectives 

 

File manager „facilitation‟ 

focus 
 

144



24 | P a g e  
 

7.2 Structure  
 
The structure of the departments participating in the development process is very 
important in that it sets the direction for decision making and file management 
models. The best practices research found that many successful municipalities use a 
single file manager model to process development applications. During interviews, 
many internal stakeholders also mentioned the lack of administrative support for file 
managers working in the development process.  

 
Management 
 
Adopt „single file manager‟ approach to the development 
process to improve consistency, decision making and 
project management during the application process. A 
„file manager‟ should be the primary point of contact for 
the applicant, for internal input and for decision making.  
 
Set roles and responsibilities to ensure collaboration 
occurs but that there is a single party responsible for 
decision making. Multiple managers and directors should 
not be involved in direct file management on an 
application/ development. Decision making at both the 
manager and director level will flow to a single point. 
 
Create specialized function (with re-deployed resources) to 
complete special planning projects (Zoning Bylaw updates, 
Area Structure Plans, Strategic development projects) or 
create prioritization process for use by Land Use Management, 
Development Services and Policy and Planning Branch to 
identify priority projects for resourcing.   
 
Add dedicated function and resources for on-going support of 
the Development Application Process Review implementation. 
 
Increase administrative support for Land Use Management 
Branch with the goal of improved support for Development 
Application Tracking System inputs and communication with 
applicants and the public. 
 
Reduce functional overlap between Building and Permitting 
Branch and Fire Prevention Branch by combining 
responsibilities under a single branch.  
 
Add a dedicated transportation planning/engineering resource 
to the Development Engineering Branch in order to improve 
the consistency and turn-around time on development 
applications that depend upon this discipline. This will also 
allow the transportation planning component of the 
Infrastructure Planning Department to focus on long term 
network objectives. 

 
Staff/All – N/A 

  

Objectives Targeted:  
 
-Communication, 

-Consistency/Certainty 

-Professionalism 
 
Major 
Recommendations:  
 
Function and resources to 

support special policy and 

planning projects  

 

Single File Manager approach 

to file processing 

 

Improved administrative 

support in Land Use Branch 

 

Dedicated function and 

resources supporting 

implementation of DAPR 

recommendations 

 

Dedicated Transportation 

Planning support in the 

Development Engineering 

Branch 

 

 

145



25 | P a g e  
 

 
7.3 Accountability  
 
Internal/external stakeholder interviews and online surveying all showed a lack of 
accountability for timelines, decision making, technical knowledge and participation 
in the City‟s development process related to some participants. The following 
recommendations are aimed at increasing accountability in the City‟s Development 
Process:  

 
Management 
 
Define and document (in Development Application 
Process Operations Manual) dispute resolution 
processes (by type of dispute). Development 
Engineering Branch dispute resolution process to be 
used as an example. 
 
Set standardized timelines for dispute resolution. 
 
Identify, track and report on important components in 
the development process (timelines, dispute 
resolution) as key performance indicators (KPI‟s) 
 
Clear policy for staff on “Late Hits” (late 
communication of development process requirements 
to a customer). 
 
Clarify legislative authority for common development 
requirements in a clear document and circulate to all 
City stakeholders in the development process.  Add 
document to Development Process Operations manual. 
 
Reduce Development Review Team (DRT) attendance 
list to managers directly related to the development 
process and ensure that attendees have decision 
making authority. 
 
Identify “Code of Conduct” policies for staff 
participating in the development process (to be 
included in a Development Process Operations Manual) 
 
Staff 
 
Online exit surveys emailed to all applicants after 
permitting/process with City complete. 
 
All 

 
Responsibility for site grading inspections and 
enforcement from Subdivision Approval until 
landscape completion to be clarified, assigned, 
implemented and tracked for performance. 

  

Objectives Targeted:  
 

-Timelines  

-Equity/Fairness 

-Consistency/Certainty  

-Transparency  

-Professionalism 
 
Major 
Recommendations:  
 
Document all necessary 

dispute resolution processes 

 

Set standardized timelines 

for dispute resolution 

 

Create “Late Hits” Policy 

 

Create Site Grading 

Accountability  

 

Create and track KPI‟s 

 

Improve DRT Meeting 

 

Exit surveys to all applicants 

146



26 | P a g e  
 

 
7.4 Pre-Application/One Window Service Centre  

 
Best practices research showed that municipalities with strong, structured pre-
application processes were able to reduce „late-hits‟ and add value to the process 
for customers. 

 
Management 
 
Create formal streams of pre-application processes 
dependent on development scale.  
 
Staff 
 
Track File and Project inquiry information using new 
file type in Development Application (DA) Tracking 
system. 
 
Refocus existing meetings (DRT/Design Review/DAR) as 
formal (advertised and required) pre-application 
review for project inquiries. 
 
Produce standardized customer/applicant feedback 
templates and timelines for each type of inquiry. 
Feedback should include complete list of required 
studies/requirements prior to application submission. 
 
Communicate pre-application process to customers 
clearly and use key messages to convey value in process 
time savings. 
 
Study/create Development Permit exemptions (or 
expedited process) for Commercial, Industrial and 
Multi-family projects that receive support through 
Advisory Design review process or for projects using 
standardized plans. 
 
File Managers/Planners "Scoping" list or checklist to 
help identify which additional staff may need to attend 
preliminary meetings. 
 
Create training and succession plans for Development 
Technician working in the One-Window Application 
Centre. 
 
All 
   
Create standardized early notification format for One-
Window Application Centre staff re: bylaw and policy 
updates with standardized format and storage location 

 
  

Objectives Targeted:  
 

-Communication 

-Quality/Value Added 
 
Major 
Recommendations:  
 
Improve structure, 

communication and formality 

of Pre-Application process 

 

Improve communication to 

One-Window Service Centre 

relating to bylaw and policy 

updates 

 

Training and Succession 

planning for One-Window 

Application Centre 

Development Technicians 

 

Use DA System to track 

major pre-application 

inquiries 

 
 

147



27 | P a g e  
 

7.5 Application Intake, File Management, Customer Communication 
 

The recommendations that fall into this category address many of the issues that 
were the most highly ranked in the Development Process Review Matrix. These issues 
included slow file set-up, incomplete applications, inconsistent communication to 
customers and unclear timelines. 

 
Management 
 
Monitor and take action to improve content of DA 
system inputs (from One Window staff, file managers, 
Development Clerks, Admin Coordinator, City Clerks). 
 
Future plan for junior tech staff member to check all 
new applications for more complex submission 
requirements. 
 
Designate standard „milestones‟ where development 
application file managers must update their customers 
(and internal stakeholders by cc: on the progress of 
their development application). 
 
Study potential for „fast-track‟ process for minor 
development permit applications (or those without 
variance permit applications) with reduced circulation 
time. Consider using the City‟s Board of Variance if 
time savings could be realized. 
 
Collaboration between Land Use Management and City 
Clerk‟s staff will be required to improve Council 
timing/meeting notification for customers. 
 
Clarify responsibility/process for Development 
Application System Updates. 
 
Staff 
 
Standardized templates for File Manager response to 
new files. (This relates to Building Permit and 
Development Applications). 
 
Set firm threshold for complete applications. Create 
list of standard documents that must be submitted 
with each file to applicant and one window. One 
window will no longer accept incomplete applications. 
 
Assigned Planner/File Manager to review every file 
prior to circulation. 
 
Planner/File Manager to review every application and 
provide initial email/letter to applicant with initial 
scoping analysis, and timelines. If file not complete at 
this stage, it will be placed "off-line" 
 

Objectives Targeted:  
 
-Communication 

-Timelines 

-Consistency/Certainty 

-Transparency 

-Professionalism  

 
Major 
Recommendations:  
 
Standardized templates and 

stage gates for customer 

contact during application 

process. 

 

Online file tracking set-up 

 

New file review prior to 

circulation. 

 

Move to electronic 

circulation for all file types 

 

Research fast-track 

application processes 

 

Study Board of Variance use 

to reduce processing times 

 

Incomplete applications no 

longer accepted 

 

 

148



28 | P a g e  
 

Circulate all application types electronically to reduce 
paper, save postage, reduce mailing time, and speed up 
response time. 

 
Building Permit file review to occur immediately after 
application receipt to reduce „late hits‟. 
 
Development Engineering Branch to set up „drop box‟ 
style folder to allow Civil plan review by other 
stakeholders prior to weekly meeting. 
 
All 

 
Notify customers of location online where file progress 
can be tracked (in application confirmation letter and 
online) 

 
Create policy for minute taking and the circulation of 
meeting minutes/results related to major applications 
in the DA process. 

  

149



29 | P a g e  
 

7.6 Website, Electronic File Management (process automation) 
 

The City of Kelowna has developed a number of different methods for its customers 
and citizens to track development applications online. Unfortunately, this work has 
not been well advertised or communicated and use of these tools is quite low. The 
following recommendations are aimed at better coordinating and capitalizing on the 
opportunities that the City‟s website offers as well as improving the City‟s internal 
use of development tracking software. This will also benefit the ability of the public 
and special interest groups who wish to track the progress of current applications. 

 
Management 
 
Improve customer ability to track applications which 
will require that staff improve their use of the system. 
 
Update Current Development Applications map to show 
file tracking data and Planner contact info. 
 
Make monthly application stats available online. 
 
Development process organizational structure and 
application process communicated on website. 
 
“About Us” page identifying staff and managers who 
participate in the development process and their area 
of responsibility.  
 
Staff 
 
Clarify role of customer/applicant on website. 
 
Update website with development process outline and 
related technical and policy information. 
 
Require digital submission (cd/memory stick/ftp site) 
of all application materials for larger developments. 
 
Create Hyperlinks from Council Agenda to Online DA 
tracking system. 
 
All 
 
Updated training for staff/management using the 
Development Application system. 

 
Research and develop online application submission 
system and process. 

  

Objectives Targeted:  
 
-Communication  

-Flexibility/Innovation  

-Transparency 

-Quality/Value Added 
 
Major 
Recommendations:  
 
Improve online application 

tracking abilities for 

customers 

 

Improve staff knowledge of 

Development Application 

System 

 

Make monthly stats available 

online 

 

Improve DA system to allow 

for online application 

submission 
 

150



30 | P a g e  
 

7.7 Community Communications 

While “Customer Communication” improvements are addressed in a separate 
section above, the recommendations in this section are aimed at a broader 
community audience including directly impacted neighbourhoods and the 
general public. The goal of improved communications with these groups is to 
increase meaningful participation and involvement in the development 
application process. 

 
Develop a comprehensive community communications 
approach to the development process including: 
 

-Create Planning/Development Process 
Information Course for customers  
 
-Create Planning/Development Process 
Information Course for citizens 
 
-Create a communications strategy that 
considers everything from notification to the 
development application decision. Aspects 
that will be considered include but are not 
limited to:  
 

*Raise awareness of online 
application tracking opportunities 
and development application 
process,  
 
*Evaluate and potentially adopt 
new online public engagement 
tools. 
 
*Notification process including 
signage to enhance the 
communities‟ ability to track new 
development.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

Objectives Targeted:  
 
-Communication  

-Flexibility/Innovation 

-Quality/Value Added 

-Transparency 
 
Major 
Recommendations:  
 
Development Process courses 

for citizens 

 

Develop a comprehensive 

Community Communications 

Approach 

 

151



31 | P a g e  
 

7.8 “Outside of the Box” Ideas 
 
During the Development Process Review interviews and research, a number of 
creative ideas and suggestions were noted. It is recommended that each be 
researched /discussed to determine feasibility for implementation in the future. 

 
 

Create Mobile App which allows customers to track 
their permits via Smart Phone. 
 
Waive Development Permits for projects that use 
designs that are pre-approved by the City (for carriage 
homes, row houses etc.) 
 
City kiosk in Orchard Park Mall staffed to support 
development questions and discussions one weekend 
per month. 
 
“Need Help?” page on website for development process 
with link to service request system or email directly to 
One-Window staff.  
 
Create a „preferred applicant‟ list that fast-tracks 
applications based on applicant performance history, 
complete application submission, and conformance 
with relevant policy. 
 
Hold an annual workshop with neighboring 
municipalities to share and coordinate new initiatives. 
 
Create YouTube videos to help customer understand 
different aspects of the Development Process. 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Objectives Targeted:  
 
-Communication  

-Flexibility/Innovation 

-Quality/Value Added 
 
Major 
Recommendations:  
 

Mobile development tracking 

App 

 

Mall Kiosk for Development 

Info 

 

Preferred Applicant „fast-

track‟ list 

 

 

152



32 | P a g e  
 

7.9 Initiatives Already Underway/Completed 
 
During this Development Process Review, several related initiatives have also been 
progressing that will help improve the development process. These include: 

 
Zoning Bylaw Update (Parking, RM2, RM3 and RM5 
zones) 
  
Official Community Plan Development Permit Area 
review 
 
Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw consistency 
review 

 
Subdivision and Development Servicing Bylaw Update 
(for consistency with Official Community Plan) 
 
Document clarifying legislative origins/parameters for 
common development requirements. 
 
Review and implementation of new public consultation 
matrix/guidelines related to development applications  
 
Building and Permitting Branch audit and accreditation 
process. 
 
Development Review Team (DRT) improvements. 
 
Community engagement framerwork 
 
Staff led Design Review Committee 

 
  

Objectives Targeted:  
 
-Timelines 

-Flexibility/Innovation 

-Quality/Value Added 

-Communication 
 
Projects Completed: 

 

„Quick wins‟ Zoning Bylaw 

Update  

 

Public consultation 

guidelines/matrix 

 

Building and Permitting Branch 

accreditation 

153



33 | P a g e  
 

8.0 Implementation Strategy 
 

The approved project charter for the Development Process Review acknowledged 
that an implementation plan project charter would be necessary for the 
recommendations made in this report (DPR Phase II). Furthermore the charter 
identified that this plan would be undertaken after the delivery of the Development 
Process Review report.  
 
The following sections make recommendations for the implementation planning 
based on research and work performed during the DPR project. 
 

 8.1 Implementation Strategy 
 

There are in excess of 50 recommended development process improvements 
described in this report. The complete implementation of all 
recommendations may take between 2-3 years. The DPR Team believes that in 
the first year, recommendations related to the following theme areas be 
implemented: 
 

 Communication and File Management  
 Accountability 
 Website/Electronic File Management   
 Pre-Application Process Improvements  

  
The specific improvements in each of these areas should target base business 
practices in order to build capacity for more complex improvements in later 
years of implementation. 
 
The implementation strategy for Year 1 should be documented in a new 
project charter to be created upon completion and endorsement of this 
report. 

 
8.2  Implementation Structure 

 
Analysis of past development process reviews has shown only partial 
implementation. In large part this is due to insufficient resourcing, a lack of 
accountability for implementation, a „silo mentality‟ and un-realistic 
implementation expectations.  

 
a) This report recommends that the long term accountability for 

implementation reside in a new function. This function would be 
responsible for the implementation and tracking of development process 
improvements. 
 

b) The new function could be accountable to the General Manager of 
Community Sustainability through monthly update meetings. We also 
believe that online progress updates for the implementation will be key in 
maintaining long term accountability for implementation. 

 
8.3 Resources 

 
Implementation of the Development Process Review recommendations should 
be done using existing (re-purposed) resources or the repatriated currently 
vacant Land Use Management position. All resources should have allocated 

154



34 | P a g e  
 

time in their work plans for the implementation of this initiative (or they 
could be seconded to a new function to support multiple special projects). 
This proposed new function will help build capacity and expertise amongst 
staff as well as enhance their understanding of the need for continual process 
improvements. In addition, it may provide some staff the opportunity to 
participate in other special/strategic planning projects. Some of the 
recommendations will also require financial resources that may be re-
purposed from existing departmental budgets.  

 
 8.4 Measuring Success 
 

It is recommended that progress and success is measured (on a regular basis) 
using the following methods: 

 
 Key Performance Indicators 

 
 Annual Customer Satisfaction Survey 

 
 Customer Exit Surveys 

 
 DPR Implementation Team Project Management reporting 

 
 Community Satisfaction 

 
  

155



35 | P a g e  
 

 
 
APPENDIX “A” – Development Application Process Review Objectives 
 
Development Application Process – Vision, Ingredients, Objectives 

 
Communication 

 

To ensure clear and regular communication among staff, with applicants, the community and external 

stakeholders, in the development process. 

 

What we heard: 

 

-Clear communication of roles, responsibilities and expectations for staff involved in the development 

process. 

-Regular, structured and clear communication between file managers and applicants. 

-Clear and transparent communication to external stakeholders of the development process, including 

Community Groups, Special Interest Groups, and the media. 

-Clear and timely communication between the City development process/file managers and the 

applicable stakeholder government agencies. 
 
Timing / Timelines 

 

To maintain predictable and defined timelines which are respected by all stakeholders in the 

development process. 

 

What we heard: 

 

- Applicants, Council and staff work towards predictable, defined timelines. 

-Timelines internal to the development process are understood and respected by all staff (notably 

staff providing circulation comments). 

-External government agencies respect City development process timelines. 

-Realistic timelines ensure appropriate expectations. 

 
Flexibility / Innovation 

 

To support staff ingenuity and be receptive of new ideas and innovation in the development process 

that achieve mutually shared objectives. 

 

What we heard: 

 

- Staff involved in the development process is receptive to new ideas and takes practical/reasonable 

approaches to considering innovative concepts. 

 
Equity / Fairness 

 

To provide fair and reasonable treatment of applicants, the community and stakeholders in the 

development process. 

 

What we heard: 

 

-The interests and concerns of community and/or special interest stakeholders be afforded fair and 

reasonable consideration in the development process. 

 

 

156



36 | P a g e  
 

 
Consistency / Certainty 

 

To ensure consistency of process and direction for staff, applicants and community in the 

development process. 

 

What we heard: 

 
-Community can expect consistent policy and practical implementation. 
-Staff can expect consistent support and messaging from managers involved in the development 
process. 

-Bylaw interpretations impacting the development process are consistent and communicated to all 

who may be impacted. 

-“Late hit” requirements or issues in the development process are avoided/mitigated. 

 
Transparency 

 

To ensure transparency of process and decisions for the benefit of staff, applicants, the community, 

and stakeholders in the development process. 

 

What we heard: 

 
-Applicants can track their development applications through a transparent processing mechanism. 
-Directions for staff to follow in the development process are transparent. 
 
Professionalism 

 

To support a high level of mutual professionalism among staff, applicants and stakeholders in the 

development process. 

 

What we heard: 

 

-Staff are able to balance professional ethics, a customer centred approach and the City‟s corporate 

objectives. 

-Community recognizes the development process as credible and professional. 

-Staff presents and conducts business in a professional manner. 

-Staff is able to provide a high level of professional guidance for both experienced and inexperienced 

clients. 

 
Quality/Value Added 

 

To encourage staff and applicant contributions that bring value to the development process, and 

ultimately, development projects. 

 

What we heard: 

 
-Applicants can expect a high quality development process (value added, timely) 
-Applicants are expected to submit high quality applications in terms of completeness and accuracy. 
-The development process is recognized for the high quality of staff work. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

157



37 | P a g e  
 

 
APPENDIX “B” – External Stakeholder Online Survey Results 
 
An online survey was used to help determine areas of the City‟s development Process that 
required improvement. The following charts show a brief summary of the most important 
results. The survey was structured so that it could be repeated annually to determine if 
process improvements are improving customer satisfaction. 
 

Last Interaction with the 
City’s Development 
Process  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Most survey respondents have had an interaction with the City‟s development process 
within 6 months of the survey date.  
 
  

158



38 | P a g e  
 

 
Parts of Development Process Used by Survey Respondents  
 

 

The survey results show that most survey respondents‟ reported experience with many 

parts of the development process. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

159



39 | P a g e  
 

 
Bylaws/Policies Needing Review  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The survey results showed that most customers feel that the City‟s Zoning Bylaw and 
Subdivision and Development Servicing Bylaw rank highest in terms of needing a 
review/update. 
  

160



40 | P a g e  
 

 
Performance on Key Customer Service Indicators  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The survey results showed average to poor results in several key customer service 
categories; however, quite well in the “Courtesy of Staff” category 
  

161



41 | P a g e  
 

 
Overall Customer Service Performance  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approximately 70% of survey respondents said that the City‟s Customer Service levels were 
between satisfactory, excellent (and don‟t change a thing!) whereas 30% of respondents 
ranked the process as inconsistent or poor. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

162



42 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix “C” – Feedback Evaluation Matrix 

163



43 | P a g e  
 

 

164



D E V E L O P M E N T  A P P L I C AT I O N  

P R O C E S S  R E V I E W  ( D A P R )  

F I N A L  R E P O RT  

May 2013 

165



W H Y T H E  P R O C E S S  R E V I E W ?  

Overall recognition that the existing development 
process could be improved 
 

2012 Core Services Review 

2012 Business Processes Review 

Council Direction 

Industry Feedback 

Community Feedback 

Partial Implementation of  

    Prior Reviews 

 

 
166



DAPR  PROJECT TEAM  

Multi-Disciplinary 
team with experience 
in many parts of the 
development 
application process 

 

Public and private 
sector experience 

Ryan Smith 

Abigail Riley 

Doug Patan 

Jordan Hettinga 

Bernard Burgat 

 

Sponsor:  

  Doug Gilchrist 

167



V I S I O N  /  O B J E C T I V E S  

Communication 

Timing / Timelines 

Flexibility / Innovation 

Equity / Fairness 

Consistency / Certainty 

Transparency 

Professionalism 

Quality / Value Added 

168



P R O C E S S  R E V I E W   

M E T H O D O L O G Y  

Phase 1 

Project Charter 

Project Team  

Selected 

Objectives  

Workshop 

Stakeholder 
Interviews and 

Survey 

Interview Issues 
Reconciliation  

& Matrix Analysis 

Best Practices 
Research & 

Recommendation 
Development 

DAPR Report 
Review 

 Report 
Presentation to 

Staff and Council 

Phase 2 

Implementation 
169



RECOMMENDAT IONS  

Recommendations grouped under broad 

theme 

Recommendations are not hierarchical in 

order 

Some are structural, some are 

process/policy oriented 

 

 

 

170



R E C O M M E N D AT I O N S  

Objectives, Vision, Culture 

Management focus on 

empowering file 

managers 

Creation of Development 

Application Process 

Policy and Operations 

Manual 

Structure 

Single File Manager 
Approach 

Improve Admin Support for 
LUM Department 

Single point decision 
making on development 
application files 

Implementation function 

Strategic planning projects 
function/priority process 

171



R E C O M M E N D AT I O N S  

Accountability 

Documented dispute 

resolution processes 

Standard timelines 

Code of Conduct 

KPI’s 

Pre-Application/One-Window 

Increase formality of 

pre-app processes 

Standardized inquiry and 

response templates 

Scoping Checklists 

172



R E C O M M E N D AT I O N S   

File Management/ 

Communication 

Improved DA System 

Inputs 

Standardized customer 

contact milestones 

Email and letter 

template updates 

Complete Applications 

 

 

Website/ 

Electronic File Management 

Online applications 

tracking 

Monthly stats online 

Web content 

improvements 

Updated DA System 

training 

173



R E C O M M E N D AT I O N S  

Community Communications 

Comprehensive 

Community 

Communications 

Approach 

Planning 101 Courses 

 

“Outside the Box” 

Youtube ‘how to videos’ 

Preferred Applicant list 

Smart phone app for 

development tracking 

 

174



I M P L E M E N TAT I O N  S T R AT E G Y    

Dedicated Implementation Function  

Lead on-going DAPR improvements 

Report to GM of Community Sustainability 

Benefit - long-term accountability 

Resources 

Existing (re-purposed) resources / repatriated vacant position 

 
 

175



I M P L E M E N TAT I O N  S T R AT E G Y  

Estimated 2-3 years 

implementation 

 

Year 1 implementation 

strategy project charter 

to be created 

Innovative 
Improvements 

Communication 
/ Admin 

Improvements 

Empowerment 
Focus and 
Structural 

Improvements 

Roles and 
Responsibilities, 
Accountability 

1st year recommended 
implementation are those items 
which are ‘foundational’ to how 
we do business 

176



W H AT A B O U T  O T H E R  

I D E A S / S U G G E S T I O N S ?  

On-going improvement and innovation is 

very important 

Staff, Council and customers are 

encouraged to continue to pass along 

ideas and examples of great practices 

 

 177



T H A N K  Y O U / Q U E S T I O N S ?  

178



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
Date 
 

Rim No. 
 

1350-90 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Engineering Traffic Technician, Transportation & Mobility 

Subject: 
 

Ellis Street Truck Route (SR 243150) 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council direct staff to, once associated road network improvements have been 
undertaken as detailed in the May 14, 2013 report from the Engineering Traffic Technician,  
to complete a new traffic order to remove Ellis Street as a truck route;   
 
AND THAT Council direct staff to submit 2014 budget requests to fund the road network 
improvements necessary to close Ellis Street to heavy truck traffic, as detailed in the May 14, 
2013 report from the Engineering Traffic Technician.  
 
AND FURTHER THAT Council direct staff to inform the public prior to implementing removal of 
the Ellis Street truck route. 
 
Purpose: 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with information related to discussions with 
BC Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI) staff regarding potential upgrades to 
the intersection of Harvey Avenue (Highway 97) and Gordon Drive to accommodate closure of 
Ellis Street to heavy truck traffic;  to report back on input from affected businesses, 
residents, and stakeholders; and to provide a recommendation to Council regarding the 
potential closure of the Ellis Street truck route. 
 
Background: 
 
In response to Council’s earlier direction (November 14, 2012), City staff sent a mail-out 
notice to 1600 residents in the Gordon Drive area and 350 businesses/property owners in the 
industrial North End with background information on the Ellis Street Truck Route and asked 
for input on its potential closure.  The City also advertised the potential closure via the 
Capital News, the City’s main website and social media channels.  In total, approximately 115 
responses were received (please see section titled External Agency/Public Comments for 
details).   

179



City staff have also consulted MoTI staff with regards to accommodating the extra truck 
traffic along the Highway to Gordon Drive (please see section titled External Agency/Public 
Comments for details on the response).   
 
The Downtown core attracts a great deal of pedestrian activity.  It has proven difficult to 
provide for pedestrian-friendly intersections while also designing for the large turning radii 
required for trucks.  The fact that buildings in the downtown are usually constructed to the 
property line and that newly constructed buildings have typically been at least four storeys 
tall has resulted in a noise environment that is uncomfortable for pedestrians.  The Downtown 
Plan suggests that priority should be given to making the Downtown more pedestrian friendly. 
Achieving this goal requires addressing the impact of truck traffic.   Making the downtown 
more pedestrian friendly will also increase opportunities for commercial use of sidewalk 

areas.     Ellis Street will soon become a much busier street. Full build-out of the approved 
Monaco towers in addition to the anticipated construction of the IHA tower and two 
additional parkades will add significant traffic volumes.  The higher traffic volumes, 
combined with multiple currently existing traffic control signals will, over time, render Ellis 
Street increasingly unsuitable for truck traffic.  The travel time advantages experienced by 
truck traffic now using Ellis Street rather than the existing truck route on Gordon Drive will 
likely, over time, disappear.    
 
Gordon Drive, which is an existing truck route between the Highway and the North End, 
provides for four lanes of traffic. Given current traffic volumes, all four lanes are not 
required during off-peak hours.  As such, parking is permitted in the outside lanes north of 
Bernard Ave. during off-peak hours.  It is anticipated that even if Gordon Drive takes 
additional truck volumes, off-peak hour parking can continue to be provided.   To more 
clearly communicate this arrangement, staff recommend pavement markings for parking stalls 
along Gordon Drive and improved signage.  Over time, it may be necessary to remove off-peak 
hour parking along Gordon Drive, but in the interim, it is supported as a way to maximize use 
of the road right of way.   
 
 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
 
Staff received 115 responses to mailed letters and media outreach. Approximately 50 
respondents were opposed and 40 were supportive of the Ellis Street truck route closure with 
the rest of the responses being general comments.  Three petitions (with a total of 407 
signatures) were submitted to Mayor and Council asking to close the Gordon Drive truck route 
and one online petition (with 373 signatures) was in favour of eliminating the Ellis Street 
truck route. 
 
The majority of the comments from residents in close proximity to Gordon Drive related to 
concerns about excessive noise, the number of residences along Gordon Drive, lack of 
crosswalks/traffic signals along Gordon Drive, the lack of bicycle lanes, the conflicts due to 
parking along Gordon Drive, trucks idling at Bernard Avenue/Gordon Drive so drivers can run 
into the convenience store, the speed of trucks along Gordon Drive, safety issues, and high 
numbers of elderly pedestrians with limited mobility.  Feedback from companies with high 
volumes of truck traffic from the City’s industrial north end noted the extra costs associated 
with longer travel times/distance. For some, alternative routes are already being used and 
these firms were accepting of the truck route closure.  Some of the specific issues to come 
from the North End businesses related to business and revenue impacts associated with re-

180



routing truck traffic to a slightly longer route, the loss or reduction in trips/deliveries and 
extra travel times with potential congestion along the Highway.   Some businesses expressed 
concern about the lack of a protected left turn for the Gordon Drive/Highway 97 intersection 
and the sharp turning radius at Clement Avenue/Gordon Drive intersection. Staff are 
recommending changes to address these concerns (see Financial and Budgetary Considerations 
section). 
 
The Downtown Kelowna Association (DKA), as part of the Downtown Plan consultation, 
advocated for the City to close Ellis Street to heavy trucks. 
 
The majority of responses that were in favour of the Ellis Street truck route closure 
understood the difficulty in eliminating the truck route and also appreciated that this will 
benefit the downtown district. 
 
City staff have been in consultation with MoTI staff with regards to accommodating the extra 
truck traffic along the Highway to Gordon Drive.  MoTI have suggested lengthening the left 
turn storage lane on Highway 97 at Gordon Drive to 120m in length to accommodate the 
anticipated truck traffic.  As part of the Highway 97 Left Turn Study, the intersection of 
Highway 97 & Gordon Drive will have an advanced left turn arrow Eastbound along the 
Highway turning Northbound onto Gordon Drive.    
 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
Implementation costs include: 

a) Adding a protected/permissive northbound left turn to Gordon Drive for east-bound 
Highway 97 traffic that is already budgeted for as part of the Highway 97 Left Turn 
Study; 

b) Lengthening the eastbound to northbound left turn bay from Highway 97 to Gordon 
Drive, at a cost of approximately $120,000;  

c) Accommodating a right turn lane from Clement Avenue to Gordon Drive to better 
accommodate truck turning movements, at a cost of approximately $290,000. 

d) Signage improvements along Gordon Drive $2,000 
 
Estimated construction costs are based on preliminary design estimates and will, upon 
detailed design, be further reviewed with MoTI. Budget already exists for item a. but items 
b., c. and d. are currently unfunded.  It is recommended that the closure of Ellis Street to 
truck traffic not take place prior to completion of the improvements noted in items b., c. and 
d.   As budget is not currently available for these items, the earliest these measures could be 
completed would be in 2014, subject to 2014 budget approval.    
 
 
Existing Policy: 
 
Consolidated Traffic Bylaw 8120; Part 5 – Highway Use Regulations identifies truck routes.  In 
order to facilitate a truck route closure, this traffic bylaw would need to be amended to 
remove Ellis Street as a truck route. 
 
  

181



Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 

 Signs would have to be posted at relevant locations to indicate the change in the hours 
of operation as per BC Motor Vehicle Act Part 3; Section 124 – Municipal Powers. 

 A traffic order would have to be signed by the Traffic Supervisor to notify the RCMP 
and City Bylaw regarding the change in operation as per Traffic Bylaw 8120. 

 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
A/General Manager, Community Sustainability 
General Manager, Community Services 
Director, Civic Operations 
Director, Regional Services 
Director, Policy & Planning 
Director, Communications 
Director, Finance 
Manager, Transportation Services 
City Clerk, Corporate Services 
Roadways Projects Manager, Regional Services 
Planner Specialist, Infrastructure Planning 
Traffic Supervisor, Transportation Services 
Traffic Technician, Transportation Services 
Marketing & Communications Advisor, Communications 
RCMP 
 
 
Communications Comments:  
We would recommend the following channels for communicating the closure to the Ellis 

Street Truck route to users: 

 Signage at Highway 97 and Ellis turn-off (both directions) in consultation with MOTI 

 Direct mail to north end businesses and other identified stakeholders impacted by 
route closure 

 City in action ad indicating timing of closure 

 Road Report news release and e-Subscribe mail-out 

 Updated kelowna.ca website information relating to Designated Truck Routes 
 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Personnel Implications: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
 
B. Oliveira, Engineering Traffic Technician, Transportation & Mobility 

182



 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 S. Bagh, Director, Infrastructure Planning (Acting) 
 
 
cc: A/General Manager, Community Sustainability 
 General Manager, Community Services 
 Director, Civic Operations 
 Director, Regional Services 
 Director, Policy & Planning 
 Director, Communications 
 Director, Finance 
 RCMP 

 
 

  

183



Report to Council 
 
 
Date: 

 
May 15, 2013 
 

Rim No. 
 

1405-01 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Director, Financial Services 

Subject: 
 

Transit 2013/2014 Annual Operating Agreements 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the 2013/2014 Annual Operating Agreements for conventional and 
custom transit services for the City of Kelowna; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the Operating Agreements 
between BC Transit, the City of Kelowna and FirstCanada ULC covering the period April 1, 
2013 to March 31, 2014; 
 
AND THAT Council approves the amendment to the 2012/2013 Annual Operating Agreement 
for conventional transit; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the amended Operating 
Agreement between BC Transit, the City of Kelowna and FirstCanada ULC covering the period 
April 1, 2012 to March 31, 2013. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide Council with information on Transit costs for the current year and receive Council 
authorization to sign the Annual Operating Agreements for the current year along with the 
amended agreement for last year. 
 
Background: 
 
Conventional Transit Service 
 
The total costs under this agreement for the 2013 fiscal year for the regular conventional 
transit is estimated to be $18,835,100, a 2.2% increase compared to the 2012 amended 
Annual Operating Agreement.  This is for a total of 153,819 service hours, similar to the 2012 
level of service. For the Community Bus program the cost estimate for 2013 is $1,814,700 an 
increase of 9.9% but includes an increase of 1,093 service hours.  The main areas of cost 
increase are in relation to driver wages & benefit costs, increased vehicle fuel & tire costs, 
fleet maintenance and vehicle lease costs.  There is a reduction for the conversion away from 
HST.  

184



 
Transit ridership for the period is forecast similar to 2012 at 4,740,700 passengers with 
revenues projected to increase slightly.  Overall there is a $319,400 increase in local cost 
requirements and a $215,300 increase in BC Transit’s cost share.  Cost recovery is estimated 
at 26.6% for 2013 down from 27.2% in the amended 2012 budget.  
 
This agreement covers the annualization of the 2012 expanded service for September 2012.  
An AOA amendment will be required for any additional improvement in service levels during 
2013.  
 
The City of Kelowna is responsible for $4.5 million of the estimated $6.4 million net 
Municipal Share of the regional Conventional Transit program. 
 
Custom Transit Service 
 
The total costs under this agreement for the 2013 fiscal year are estimated to be $2,791,600 
(excluding Peachland Paratransit), which is a 1.6% increase from the 2012 operating budget. 
The cost adjustment is primarily due to inflationary increases, an increase in vehicle debt 
costs and a reduction in maintenance contingency and contract HST. 
 
Passengers for the period are forecast at 164,800 (increase of 7.3%) with revenues increasing 
by $27,300.  Net municipal share is increased by $25,000 for 2013 while BC Transit’s share 
decreases by $8,400 due to their debt costs being recorded elsewhere.  Cost recovery is 
estimated at 9.1%, up from the 8.3% level estimated for 2012. 
 
The City of Kelowna is responsible for $623,800 of the estimated $846,400 net Municipal 
Share of the Custom Transit program. 
 
Attached are Information & Performance Summaries for the Regional Conventional, 
Community and Custom Transit operations.  These schedules outline some of the changes to 
the current year operating agreement for costs and revenues as well as performance 
information.  Also included are conventional transit revenue and cost comparisons for the 
2005 to 2012 period.  
 
A further request is for the approval of an amendment to the 2012/13 Conventional Transit 
Annual Operating Agreement.  This amendment covers the conventional transit changes that 
occurred last September, including items related to the City of Kelowna and also our regional 
partners: 

 The new Quail Ridge route #13 

 Adding the Kelowna overload hours to the base program 

 Introduction of late night service on route #97 

 Adding time to route #1 for schedule reliability 

 Rapid Bus between Queensway and Westbank Town Centre 

 Expanded service on Lake Country route #23 

 Changes to service levels in West Kelowna 
 
The amendment was received at the City last October but there were adjustments required 
to both the cost sharing numbers and the revenue share.  These adjustments were not 
resolved until February, 2013.  The impacts of these changes were estimated for our 2012 
year end accrual and they will be invoiced in 2013.   

185



 
Internal Circulation: 
Director, Regional Services 
Regional Programs Manager 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Annual Operating Agreement is required to authorize funding for payment of transit 
contractor. 

 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Existing budget provides for these Annual Operating requirements. 

 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
K. Grayston, Director, Financial Services  
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 General Manager, Corporate Sustainability 
 
 
cc: Director, Regional Services 
 Regional Programs Manager  
 Revenue Manager 
 
  

  

186



Information & Performance Summary

Kelowna Conventional Transit

Kelowna Regional Kelowna Regional

Amended AOA Official AOA Variance

2012/2013 2013/2014 $ %

ANNUAL OPERATING AGREEMENT

BUDGET SUMMARY

Total Costs $18,421,435 $18,835,143 $413,708 2.2%

Total Revenue $5,466,350 $5,499,946 $33,596 0.6%

BCT Share of Costs $7,550,235 $7,717,824 $167,589 2.2%

Net Municipal Share $5,126,371 $5,330,538 $204,167 4.0%

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

Level of Service

     Population Served 129,864 131,162 1,298 1.0%

     Number of Vehicles in Service 64 64 0 0.0%

     Revenue Hours of Service 153,611 153,819 208 0.1%

Effectiveness

     Annual Revenue Passengers 4,694,148 4,740,700 46,552 1.0%

          Conventional 4,694,148 4,740,700 46,552 1.0%

     Total Revenue Passsengers per Capita 36.1 36.1 0 0.0%

     Total Passengers per Hour 31 31 0 0.9%

     Total Cost per Passenger $4.28 $4.36 $0.05 1.1%

     Cost Recovery (including Community) 27.23% 26.63% -0.6%

Efficiency

     Total Operating Cost per Revenue Hour $105.27 $107.46 $2.19 2.1%

     Total Cost of Service per Revenue Hour $119.92 $122.45 $2.53 2.1%

 

 
 

187



Information & Performance Summary

Kelowna Community Bus
Official AOA Official AOA Variance

2012/2013 2013/2014 $ %

ANNUAL OPERATING AGREEMENT

BUDGET SUMMARY

Total Costs $1,651,113 $1,814,736 $163,623 9.9%

BCT Share of Costs $663,168 $710,893 $47,725 7.2%

Net Municipal Share $967,067 $1,082,337 $115,270 11.9%

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

Level of Service

     Population Served 129,864 131,162 1,298 1.0%

     Number of Vehicles in Service 8 8 0 0.0%

     Revenue Hours of Service 21,395 22,488 1,093 5.1%

Efficiency

     Total Operating Cost per Revenue Hour $66.39 $67.71 $1.32 2.0%

     Total Cost of Service per Revenue Hour $77.17 $80.70 $3.53 4.6%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

188



Information & Performance Summary 

Kelowna Regional Custom

Official AOA Official AOA Variance

2011/2012 2012/2013 $ %

ANNUAL OPERATING AGREEMENT

BUDGET SUMMARY

Total Costs $2,746,491 $2,791,608 $45,117 1.6%

Total Revenue $227,500 $254,760 $27,260 12.0%

BCT Share of Costs $1,655,102 $1,646,664 -$8,438 -0.5%

Net Municipal Share $821,395 $846,416 $25,021 3.0%

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

Level of Service

     Population Served 186,700 188,567 1,867 1.0%

     Registered Users 1,750 1,750 0 0.0%

     Number of Vehicles in Service 22 22 0 0.0%

     Revenue Hours of Service 35,910 36,300 390 1.1%

Effectiveness

     Annual Revenue Passengers 153,617 164,759 11,142 7.3%

          Custom/Para - Vans 118,161 126,531 8,370 7.1%

          Custom/Para - Taxi Supplement 11,839 12,250 411 3.5%

          Taxi Saver 23,617 25,978 2,361 10.0%

     Van Passengers per Revenue Hour 3.3 3.5 0.2 5.9%

     Total Cost per Passenger $17.88 $16.94 -$0.94 -5.2%

     Cost Recovery 8.28% 9.13% 0.01 10.2%

Efficiency

     Total Operating Cost per Revenue Hour $69.11 $68.02 -$1.09 -1.6%

     Total Cost of Service per Revenue Hour $76.48 $76.90 $0.42 0.6%

 
 

189



KELOWNA REGIONAL TRANSIT SYSTEM

Conventional Transit

Revenues

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

BC Bus Pass 590,208 636,080 642,031 693,224 723,981 747,027 819,938 782,838

Upass 201,207 433,904 506,519 589,850 663,734 813,796

Pass 1,418,803 1,444,836 1,594,970 1,712,729 1,809,912 1,860,079 1,876,993 2,009,193

Farebox 1,179,358 1,189,528 1,328,437 1,493,307 1,488,070 1,681,385 1,724,878 1,730,694

Advertising 95,695 104,259 90,000 93,000 96,000 99,000 102,000 123,735

Total 3,284,064 3,374,703 3,856,645 4,426,164 4,624,482 4,977,341 5,187,543 5,460,256

0 

1,000,000 

2,000,000 

3,000,000 

4,000,000 

5,000,000 

6,000,000 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Advertising

Farebox

Pass

Upass

BC Bus Pass

 
KELOWNA REGIONAL TRANSIT SYSTEM

Expenditures

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Direct Costs 7,281,475 8,005,899 9,588,939 12,213,064 12,587,501 14,032,398 15,795,667 15,435,583

Indirect Costs 844,228 867,721 1,009,417 1,323,769 1,519,451 1,831,169 2,001,793 1,946,786

Debt 1,134,283 1,236,321 1,561,656 1,920,169 1,970,773 1,880,359 2,254,781 2,206,424

Total 9,259,986 10,109,941 12,160,012 15,457,002 16,077,725 17,743,926 20,052,241 19,588,793

Service Hours 113,465 115,373 141,603 160,377 171,339 176,318 179,519 176,007

Cost per Hour 81.61$       87.63$       85.87$        96.38$        93.84$       100.64$      111.70$      111.30$      

Recovery % 35.5% 33.4% 31.7% 28.6% 28.8% 28.1% 25.9% 27.9%

0 

3,000,000 

6,000,000 

9,000,000 

12,000,000 

15,000,000 

18,000,000 

21,000,000 

24,000,000 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Debt

Indirect Costs

Direct Costs

 

190



Report to Council 
 

Date: 
 

May 17, 2013 
 

Rim No. 
 

1140-53 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

R. Forbes, Manager, Property Management 

Subject: 
 

LICENSE OF OCCUPATION – City of Kelowna to Callahan Construction 
Company Ltd. and 3720 Investments Ltd. (Mission Park Shopping Centre) 

 Report Prepared by: T. Abrahamson, Property Officer 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the City entering into a ten (10) year License of Occupation, with 
Callahan Construction Company Ltd. and 3720 Investments Ltd. (collectively referred to as 
“Callahan”), for Callahan’s use of City-owned property for signage with the option to renew 
for an additional ten (10) year term, in the form attached to the Report of the Manager, 
Property Management, dated May 17, 2013; 
 
AND THAT Council approves the City entering into a ten (10) year License of Occupation with 
Callahan Construction Company Ltd. and 3720 Investments Ltd. (collectively referred to as 
“Callahan”), for the City’s use of Callahan property for a bus shelter with the option to renew 
for an additional ten (10) year term, in the form attached to the Report of the Manager, 
Property Management, dated May 17, 2013; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the License of 
Occupations. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide a License of Occupation for a bus shelter that furthers the development of the 
RapidBus service. 
 
Background: 
 
The City owns property on Richter Street adjacent to the Mission Park Shopping Centre and 
currently utilized as greenspace and overflow parking. The property is approximately 1,600 
sq.ft. in size.  Callahan has constructed an addition to the shopping centre facing Richter 
Street and has requested a License of Occupation from the City to utilize this space for 
signage for the new shopping centre addition. 
 
The City and Callahan have also been in negotiations for the City’s use of Callahan property 
on Lakeshore Road fronting Mission Park Shopping Centre for enhancements to the existing 

191



City Manager 
May 17, 2013 
Page 2 of 3 Pages 

 

 
bus shelter.  Callahan and the City have agreed to a reciprocal License of Occupation in 
favour of the City to increase the size and configuration of this shelter to accommodate the 
changes to the RapidBus Program that will continue to emphasize active transportation and 
transit along Lakeshore Road. 
 
These License of Occupations represent the Corporate Focus of Sustainable City in that we 
deliver on a multiple bottom line, balancing community priorities with resource realities to 
create a safe, vibrant and sustainable city. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Regional Programs Manager, Regional Services 
Regional Projects Manager, Regional Services 
Active Transportation Coordinator, Regional Services 
Manager, Urban Land Use 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
In light of the above, the Property Management branch of the Real Estate & Building Services 
department request Council’s support of these License of Occupations.  
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
____________________________________ 
Ron Forbes, RPA 
Manager, Property Management 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                  D. Edstrom, Acting Director,  

Real Estate & Building Services 
 
 
cc:  J. Dombowsky, Regional Programs Manager, Regional Services 
 A. Albiston, Regional Projects Manager, Regional Services 

M. Kittmer, Active Transportation Coordinator, Regional Services 
 D. Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 
 
  

  

192



City Manager 
May 17, 2013 
Page 3 of 3 Pages 

 

 
 
 

 

193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 17, 2013 
 

Rim No. 
 

2380-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Ron Forbes, Manager, Property Management 

Subject: 
 

Concession and Vendor Bid Awards 

 Report Prepared by: T. Abrahamson, Property Officer 

 

Recommendation: 
 

THAT Council approve the City entering into a three (3) year contract, with two (2) 
one (1) year options to renew with Vietnam Village, to provide mobile concession 
services at City Park Cold Sands Beach (Site A) on Abbott Street, in the form attached 
to the Report of the Manager, Property Management, dated May 17, 2013; 
 
AND THAT Council approve the City entering into a three (3) year Contract, with two 
(2) one (1) year renewal options with Una Mak, to provide concession services at the 
Ben Lee Park concession on Houghton Road (Site B), in the form attached to the 
Report of the Manager, Property Management, dated May 17, 2013; 
 
AND THAT Council approve the City entering into a three (3) year Contract, with two 
(2) one (1) year renewal options with 096796 BC Ltd. dba Waterfront Park Beach 
Rentals, to provide activity concession services at Waterfront Park (Tugboat Bay) on 
Water Street (Site C), in the form attached to the Report of the Manager, Property 
Management, dated May 17, 2013; 
 
AND THAT Council approve the City entering into a one year (1) year Contract, with 
four (4) one (1) year renewal options with Telemark Sports Inc., dba Fresh Air, to 
provide activity concession services at the foot of Queensway Street (Site D), in the 
form attached to the Report of the Manager, Property Management, dated May 17, 
2013; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute all documents 
associated with the contracts. 
  

202



City Manager 
May 17, 2013 
Page 2 of 3 Pages 

 
 
Purpose:  

To obtain Council endorsement to award activity and food concessions and a mobile 
vending contract to operate concessions at City Park, Ben Lee Park, Waterfront Park 
and Queensway Street. 
 
Background: 
 
The Property Management branch of Real Estate & Building Services department issued 
Requests for Proposals for four (4) concession and vending operations as shown on the 
attached map (Schedule A) and located at: 
 
 Site A – City Park (seasonal May-Sept) 
 Site B – Ben Lee Park (seasonal May-Sept) 
 Site C – Waterfront Park (seasonal May-Sept) 
 Site D – Queensway Street (seasonal May-Sept) 
 
In April 2013, staff offered bid packages for the four locations on the City’s website, the e-
Subscribe email service, as well as advertising in the local newspaper.  An optional 
information meeting was held for all four opportunities with closing dates for the sealed bids 
of 3:00pm, April 19, 2013.  Bids were then evaluated independently by a staff selection 
committee which led to the recommendations above. 
 
Bids were evaluated on the following criteria: (1) relevant experience, qualifications and 
successes (2) proposed food or rental items and proposed prices (3) overall proposal for 
operating a high quality, service oriented venture and (4) total value to the City. 
 
Summary of Concession Opportunities recommended to be awarded: 
 
Vietnam Village (Site A)  
Vietnam Village will be operating a food truck located beside the washroom building currently 
under construction in City Park.  In planning for the washroom building, Property Management 
staff worked with Infrastructure Planning staff to ensure that the plaza area would be strong 
enough to support the weight of food trucks and that electrical services would be available.   
Vietnam Village will follow the Healthy Choices guidelines which were part of the bid 
requirements. 
  
 The plan was for one food truck for 2013 and for an additional two food trucks in 2014. 
 
Ben Lee Park (Site B) 
Una Mac has provided the food concession services at Ben Lee Park since 2002.  She follows 
the Healthy Choices guidelines which were part of the bid requirements. 
 
Waterfront Park (Site C) 
Waterfront Park Beach Rentals will be providing rentals of stand up paddleboards (SUP), 
Kayak, Peddle Boats, and Hydro Bikes for rent.  The main operator is a Paddle Canada 
Certified Instructor for both Flat Water and Advanced Water SUP lessons as well as being a 
personal trainer, SUP Yoga Instructor and SUP fitness instructor. 
  

203



City Manager 
May 17, 2013 
Page 3 of 3 Pages 

 
Queensway Street (Site D) 
Fresh Air will be providing bike rentals at the foot of Queensway out of a modified container.  
The container will be installed at the start of the season and removed at the end of the 
season. 
 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
 
Vietnam Village: 

$3,000 per year in 2013, and $4,000 per year in 2014 and 2015.  This is a new 
concession for 2013. 

 
Ben Lee Park: 

$1,000 per year 
 
Waterfront Park: 
 $1,600 per year 
 
Queensway Street: 
 $3,840 
 Queensway Street is a new concession for 2013. 
 
These Contracts represents the Corporate Focus of Pioneering Leadership in that we find 

better ways to deliver services to our community. 

Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
In light of the above, the Property Management branch of the Real Estate & Building Services 
department request Council’s support of these contracts.  
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
________________________________ 
Ron Forbes, Manager 
Property Management  
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                  D. Edstrom, Acting Director,  

Real Estate & Building Services 
 
cc:  Director, Financial Services 

  

204



 
SCHEDULE ‘A’ 

 
Site A – City Park 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Vending 
Location 

205



SITE B – Ben Lee Park 
ss

 

  
Concession 
Location 

206



SITE C - Waterfront Park (Tugboat Bay) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Concession 
Location 

207



 
SITE D – Queensway Bike Concession 

 

 

Concession 
Location 

208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



Report to Council 
 

Date: 
 

May 17, 2013 

Rim No. 
 

1140-50 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Ron Forbes, Manager, Property Management 

Subject: 
 

COMMERCIAL LEASE  – DUNCAN’S BISTRO & BAR LTD., 375 LAWRENCE AVE. 
(CHAPMAN PARKADE) 

 Report Prepared by: T. Abrahamson, Property Officer 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approves the City entering into a five (5) year Commercial Lease, with Duncan’s 
Bistro & Bar Ltd., with the option to renew for an additional five (5) year term, in the form 
attached to the Report of the Manager, Property Management, dated May 13, 2013; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the agreement. 
 
Purpose:  
 
That Council approve the Lease to Duncan’s Bistro & Bar Ltd. 
 
Background: 
 
Pursuant to an Assignment of Lease in May 2010, the current Tenant, Duncan’s Bistro & Bar 
Ltd., has operated a successful café from a City-owned commercial space located on the 
lower level of the Chapman Parkade fronting Lawrence Avenue.  The original term of five (5) 
years plus a renewal term of five (5) years has expired and a new lease has been requested by 
the tenant.  
 
The Lease has been maintained in good standing.  Therefore in January 2013, Staff 
commissioned a five year review and market rent estimate to ensure fair market value was 
reflected in the proposed new lease.  The review was undertaken by Kent McPherson 
Appraisals and returned an average value for this tenant of $14.70/sq.ft. for the first five (5) 
year term.  This value is consistent with lease comparables in the downtown core and 
represents an increase of 1.4% over the previous five (5) year lease term. 
 
The new lease contemplates a further five (5) year renewal at the City’s sole discretion and is 
subject to a five year rent review to set new rental rates if the market dictates a change in 
rates. 
 

335



City Manager 
May 17, 2013 
Page 2 of 3 Pages 

 
 
This Commercial Lease represents our Corporate Focus of Responsive Customer Service in that 
we understand evolving needs and ensure services are appropriate and accessible. 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Community Charter, Sec. 26 – Disposal of Municipal Property 
 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Community Charter, Sec. 94 – Notice Requirements 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Internal Circulation 
Existing Policy 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 
Personnel Implications 
External Agency/Public Comments 
Communications Comments 
Alternate Recommendation 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Ron Forbes, RPA 
Manager, Property Management 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:            Derek Edstrom, Acting Director,  

Real Estate & Building Services 
 
 
cc: K. Grayston, Director, Financial Services 
 
  

  

336



City Manager 
May 17, 2013 
Page 3 of 3 Pages 

 
 
 
 

 

337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



358



359



360



361



362



363



364



365



366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 22, 2013 
 

Rim No. 
 

1325-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Joel Shaw, Capital Assets and Investment Manager 

Subject: 
 

Corporate GHG Emissions Update 

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives, for information, the report from the Capital Assets and Investment 
Manager dated May 22, 2013 with respect to corporate GHG emissions data and emission 
reduction projects. 
 
Purpose:  
 
Purpose of report is to present the latest corporate GHG emisions data and highlight GHG 
emisions reduction projects.  The community actions were highlighted in a separate Council 
report on Feb 12, 2013 (Climate Action Revenue Incentive Program Reporting Requirement). 
 
Background: 
 
On September 21, 2007 the City of Kelowna signed the BC Climate Action Charter (CAC).  By 
doing so, signatory Local Governments agreed to voluntarily develop strategies and take 
actions to achieve the following goals: 
 

1. to become carbon neutral with respect to their corporate operations by 2012.  The 
province has since approved ‘making progress towards’ as part of the common 
approach to carbon neutrality under the CAC.  The City has taken this approach for 
meeting CAC commitments; 

2. measure and report on their GHG emission profile; and  
3. create complete, compact and more energy efficient communities. 

 
As an incentive to achieving CAC goals, the province reimburses signatory Local Governments 
100% of the carbon taxes paid on energy each year under the Climate Action Revenue 
Incentive Program (CARIP).  In 2012 this payment was $217,238.  The continuation of this 
payment is connected to the City’s compliance with the CAC. 
 

374



The City tracks energy and emissions data from invoice records from the energy suppliers and 
this information is uploaded into the City’s energy management system.  The GHG emissions 
data for the period from 2007 to 2012 is shown in Figure 1.  In 2007, the Corporation’s total 
GHG emissions were estimated at 8,017 tonnes of CO2 and in 2012 emissions were 8,079 
tonnes.  This historic comparison indicates that the corporation has maintained GHG 
emissions at 2007 levels despite the addition of Fleet and Building inventory to support our 
growing community which has grown by 9% since 2007.   
 

Figure 1 

 
There was a minor correction to the numbers reported last year for the GHG levels in 2010 
and 2011.  The numbers reported last year were 7,700 and 7,895 for 2010 and 2011, 
respectively compared to 7,856 and 8,079 for those same years.  This correction was a result 
of missed records during the compilation of historic records by the City and later than 
expected invoicing by energy suppliers.  Moving forward, the City has improved data 
collection and reporting so that it is more robust and consistent. 
 
The CARIP reporting template (attached) provides corporate GHG emissions levels as required 
by the CAC and do not include GHG emissions for airport, police or solid waste operations as 
these services are considered regional services under the CAC.  
 

Listed below are corporate highlights in 2012.  

 

 Implemented Process Optimization and Energy Management Plan at the Wastewater 
Treatment Facility where electrical usage in 2012 was reduced by 660,000 kWh 
compared to 2011; 

 Received FortisBC PowerSense Conservation Excellence Award for energy savings at 
the Wastewater Treatment Facility.  The award came with a rebate to the City in the 
amount of $300,000; 

 Installed GPS Fleet Management Systems in City vehicles to reduce idling and improve 
routing efficiencies; 

 Implemented efficiency upgrades to several City facilities including lighting upgrades, 
condensing boiler for Memorial Arena and high efficiency displacement 
ventilation/heat recovery HVAC system for the new Parkinson Activity Centre; 

 Implemented a corporate bike fleet (11 bikes at 6 City facilities); 

0 

1000 

2000 

3000 

4000 

5000 

6000 

7000 

8000 

9000 

10000 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Em
is

si
o

n
s 

(t
o

n
n

e
 C

O
2

) 

Total Corporate GHG Emissions by Year 

375



 Received Okanagan Basin Water Board grant to partner with UBC to improve 
management and monitoring of irrigation data systems which will help to conserve 
water and energy; and 

 Implemented a City Hall compost program. 
 
Planned corporate actions in 2013 are detailed in the CARIP reporting template and 
summarized as follows. CARIP funds will be used for a high efficiency chiller unit at the 
Rutland Arena.   Additional improvements at Rutland Arena include replacing 50 existing 
400W Metal Halide lighting with T5 fluorescent fixtures and re-roofing with a white, highly 
reflective membrane which will serve to reduce the heat load for the refrigeration plant. 
These measures are estimated to reduce the energy demand by 80,562 Kwh/yr for the arena. 

Other projects which include energy reduction initiatives include a new condenser and 
variable frequency drive (VFD) for Memorial Arena, new VFD and cooling tower for the Art 
Gallery, Post commissioning at the Rutland Family Y, displacement ventilation system for the 
new Landfill Admin Building and Building Optimization projects for City Hall and H2O. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
Director, Financial Services 
Sustainability Coordinator 
Manager, Building Services 
Fleet Services Supervisor 
Acting General Manager, Community Sustainability 
 
Existing Policy: 
The Multiple Bottom Line framework pursuant to Council Policy 352: Sustainable Municipal 
Infrastructure targets climate change initiatives (mitigation and adaptation) including the 
reduction of GHG emissions.  The corporate reduction target established on December 1, 
2010, is 22% below 2007 levels by 2017.   

Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
The annual CARIP grant will be placed in the Carbon Energy reserve and will be used for 
projects that will reduce corporate energy and GHG emissions.  This reserve will also fund 
operational expenses, like software licenses, for data collection and reporting.  Projects for 
2014 will be prioritized based on their business case which will include consideration for 
envirnomental and economic benefit.   
 
Personnel Implications: 
The data collection, reporting and management of the Corporate GHG Management plan will 
be completed with existing staff resources. 
  

376



 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
J. Shaw, P.Eng., Manager, Capital Assets and Investments 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 S. Bagh, Acting Director, Infrastructure Planning 
 
Attachment 1: CARIP Template 
   
 
cc:  Director, Financial Services 

Sustainability Coordinator 
Manager, Building Services 
Fleet Services Supervisor 
Acting General Manager, Community Sustainability 
Director, Communications 

 

  

377



C O R P O R AT E  G H G  E M I S S I O N S  

U P D AT E  

378



C L I M AT E  A C T I O N  C H A RT E R  

to become carbon neutral with respect to their corporate 
operations by 2012.  The province has since approved 
‘making progress towards’ as part of the common approach 
to carbon neutrality under the CAC; 

 

measure and report on their GHG emission profile; and  

 

create complete, compact and more energy efficient 
communities. 

 

379



T O TA L  C O R P O R AT E  G H G  E M I S S I O N S  B Y  Y E A R  

0 

1000 

2000 

3000 

4000 

5000 

6000 

7000 

8000 

9000 

10000 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Em
is

si
o

n
s 

(t
o

n
n

e
 C

O
2

) 

380



2 0 1 2  H I G H L I G H T S  

Implemented Process Optimization at the WWTF where electrical usage in 
2012 was reduced by 660,000 kWh compared to 2011; 

 

Received FortisBC Power Sense Conservation Excellence Award for energy 
savings at the WWTF.  The award came with a rebate to the City in the 
amount of $300,000; 

 

Installed GPS Fleet Management Systems in City vehicles to reduce idling 
and improve routing efficiencies; 

 

Implemented efficiency upgrades to several City facilities; 

 

Implemented a corporate bike fleet (11 bikes at 6 City facilities); 

 

Received Okanagan Basin Water Board grant to partner with UBC to 
improve management and monitoring of irrigation data systems which will 
help to conserve water and energy; and 

 

 
381



2 0 1 3  H I G H L I G H T S  

Install high efficiency chiller at Rutland Arena along with energy efficient 
lighting and reflective ceiling over ice surface; 

 

Building optimization projects at H2O and City Hall; 

 

Continue installation of GPS Fleet Management Systems in City vehicles; 

 

Implement efficiency upgrades to Memorial Arena and Art Gallery; 

 

Post commissioning optimization at Rutland Family Y; 

 

Displacement ventilation system for new Landfill Admin Building. 

 

 

 

382



Q U E S T I O N S ?  

383



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
May 14, 2013 

File: 
 

0600-10 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

City Clerk 

Subject: 
 

BL10848 - Road Closure and Removal of Highway Dedication  -  A Portion of 
Road that bisects 2018 Cross Road 

 Report Prepared by: C. Boback, Legislative Coordinator 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council provides an opportunity for public input on the proposed road closure for 
BL10848 - Road Closure and Removal of Highway Dedication – Portion of Road that bisects 
2018 Cross Road; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 10848 , being Road Closure and Removal of Highway Dedication  - A 
Portion of Road that bisects 2018 Cross Road be adopted. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To consider adoption of Bylaw No. 10848 being Road Closure and Removal of Highway 
Dedication - A Portion of Road that bisects 2018 Cross Road. 
 
Background: 
 
Bylaw No. 10848 received first three readings by Council on Monday, May 13, 2013.  A copy of 
the Bylaw is attached.  The following conditions of adoption have been met: 
 

1. Newspaper Advertisements placed in local newspaper on Friday, May 17 and Friday, 
May 24,  2013 with the Monday, May 27,  2013 adoption date; 

2. Posted on Public Notice Board; 
 
Following an opportunity for the public to provide input at the Monday, May 27, 2013 meeting 
of Council, the bylaw may be considered for adoption.  Registration at the Land Titles Office 
will proceed after the bylaw is adopted. 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
S. Fleming, City Clerk 

384



385



386


	Agenda
	2. Minutes - May 13, 2013 PM Regular Meeting.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	3.1 City of Kelowna May 2013.ppt
	Back to Agenda

	4.1 A13-0004 Kondola Supplemental Report to Council.docx
	Back to Agenda

	4.1 ALC Letter May 8_2013.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	5.1 Z12-0062 Council Report.docx
	Back to Agenda

	5.1 z12-0062 attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	5.2 Z13-0011 Council report.docx
	Back to Agenda

	5.2 z13-0011 attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	5.2.1 BL10849.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	5.3 A13-0008 Council Report .docx
	Back to Agenda

	5.3 a13-0008 attachments.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	5.4 Z10-0013 RTC Extension Report May 18 2012 to May 18, 2014.docx
	Back to Agenda

	5.4 z10-0013 attachment.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	6.1 Adoption Report - BL10783.docx
	Back to Agenda

	6.1 BL10783.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	6.2 Adoption Report - BL10804.docx
	Back to Agenda

	6.2 BL10804.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.1 DAPR Final Report - Council.docx
	Back to Agenda

	7.1 Development Application Process Review - Final Report.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.1 DAPR May 2013 Council.pptx
	Back to Agenda

	7.2 Ellis St Truck Route RTC.BO.2013 05 21.docx
	Back to Agenda

	7.3 Transit 2013 2014 Annual Operating Agreements.docx
	Back to Agenda

	7.4 Council Report Licenses of Occupation between Callahan and City.docx
	Back to Agenda

	7.4 License from City to Callahan Signage.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5 Council Report - Concession Contracts.docx
	Back to Agenda

	7.5 Schedule A - Concession Contracts.docx
	Back to Agenda

	7.5 Attachment 1 - Vietnam Village.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5 Attachment 2 - Ben Lee Park - Una Mak.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5 Attachment 3 - SUP SAND SUN - Waterfront Park 2013.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.5 Attachment 4 - Fresh Air Experience - Queensway 2013.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.6 Council Report Duncan's Bistro 2013 Lease.docx
	Back to Agenda

	7.6 Lease.pdf
	Back to Agenda

	7.7 Corporate Energy and GHG Emissions.JS.2013.05.22.docx
	Back to Agenda

	7.7 Corporate Energy and GHG Emissions Update.2013.05.22.pptx
	Back to Agenda

	8.1 Adoption Report - BL10848.docx
	Back to Agenda

	8.1 BL10848 - Road Closure_Portion_of_Cross_Road.pdf
	Back to Agenda


